

2009/ED/EFA/MRT/PI/21

Background paper prepared for the Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2009

Overcoming Inequality: why governance matters

Home language and education in the developing world

Jeroen Smits Janine Huisman Karine Kruijff 2008

This paper was commissioned by the Education for All Global Monitoring Report as background information to assist in drafting the 2009 report. It has not been edited by the team. The views and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the author(s) and should not be attributed to the EFA Global Monitoring Report or to UNESCO. The papers can be cited with the following reference: "Paper commissioned for the EFA Global Monitoring Report 2009, Overcoming Inequality: why governance matters" For further information, please contact efareport@unesco.org

Home language and education in the developing world

Commissioned study for EFA Global Monitoring Report 2009

Jeroen Smits Janine Huisman Karine Kruijff

Nijmegen Center for Economics (NiCE)
Institute for Management Research
Radboud University Nijmegen

July 2008

Contact address: Jeroen Smits Department of Economics Radboud University Nijmegen P.O. Box 9108 6500 HK Nijmegen The Netherlands Phone: +31 24 3612319 Fax +31 24 3612379

E-mail jeroen.smits@fm.ru.nl

Home language and education in the developing world

Abstract

In this report the relationship between the language spoken at home and educational attendance and attainment is studied for 26 developing countries from all regions of the developing world. For these 26 countries, we have constructed country profiles that show the percentages of the population belonging to the major linguistic groups and the variation in adult educational attainment and children's educational attendance among the these groups. The profiles reveal for most of the countries substantial variation in educational attendance and attainment according to home language. This variation is present both for men and women and in urban and rural areas. To gain insight into the causes of the variation in attendance of children, two multivariate analyses are performed. The first analysis focuses on the variation within the countries. It shows that in most countries a substantial part of the variation in attendance among linguistic groups is due to variation in household wealth, parental education, gender, and urbanization of place of living of the members of the groups. In the second analysis we use multilevel models to study for 153 linguistic groups whether the variation in attendance of children is related to variation in the availability of mothertongue based multilingual education, in concentration of the groups in rural areas, and in the country's degree of linguistic fractionalization. Educational attendance is higher when there is mother-tongue instruction in the language spoken by the group and it is lower for groups concentrated in rural areas. The positive effects of mother-tongue instruction are stronger for groups concentrated in rural areas, thus highlighting its potential for improving the situation of groups in more difficult circumstances. Group size and linguistic fractionalization of the country have no effect on attendance and the effects of mother-tongue instruction are about equally strong for girls and boys.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Part A. Home language and education	3
A1. Background and context	3
A2. UNESCO's position	4
A3. Theoretical overview	6
A3.1 Home language and education	6
A3.2 Mother-tongue instruction	8
A4. Research strategy	10
A5. Results	12
A5.1 Descriptive results	12
A5.2 Odds ratios for non-attendance	13
A5.3 Multi-level analysis of differences among linguistic groups	16
A6. Conclusions	18
A7. Definitions	21
A8. References	22
Part B. Technical details	26
B1. Data	26
B2. Measuring language	28
B3. Individual level multivariate analysis	29
B4. Multilevel analysis	30
B5. Sources of information on mother-tongue instruction	32
Part C. Country profiles	41
C1. Country profiles	41
C2. Sources of information in country profiles	81

Part A. Home language and education

A1. Background and context

The Education for All Global Monitoring Report (GMR) annually assesses progress towards the achievement of the six EFA goals to which over 160 countries committed themselves at the World Education Forum in Dakar in 2000. The GMR aims to inform and influence education and aid policies through an authoritative, evidence-based review of educational progress and a balanced analysis of critical challenges facing countries. The work presented in the GMR reflects a broad research exercise, drawing upon background papers prepared by researchers, experts and institutes from around the world. Six reports -- two general and four thematic -- have been published thus far: Is the World on Track? (2002); The Leap to Equality (2003/4); The Quality Imperative (2005); and Literacy for Life (2006); Strong Foundations: Early childhood care and education (2007) and Education for All by 2015: Will we make it? (2008). The theme of the planned 2009 Report is the impact of educational governance, finance and management on progress towards EFA. All reports can be consulted at www.efareport.unesco.org. In addition to reporting on overall progress towards the EFA goals, the 2009 report intends to:

- Examine the inter-play between education, poverty and other dimensions of human development
- Synthesise international research on the factors affecting inequalities in attendance and achievement
- Map information about key aspects of the governance, management and financing of education
- Critically examine actual reforms, policies and practices in the GMF of education
- Monitor aid flows and changes in government-donor relations

The current study fits within the second topic of the 2009 report. Discrepancies between the language which children speak at home (henceforth called *home language*) and the language used in the educational system (henceforth called *language of instruction*) are a major source of inequalities in attendance, attainment and achievement, both in the developed and the developing world. However, whereas other sources of inequalities in educational outcomes, like differences in parental education, occupation, family size, birth order, or immigrant status, have gained much attention in comparative research, many fewer comparative studies, and mostly in OECD countries, have studied how children's language proficiencies in relation to a country's official languages and the

language(s) of instruction affect educational outcomes (for exceptions, see OECD 2006; Hampden-Thompson and Johnston 2006).

This study examines the relationship between the language spoken at home and educational attendance and attainment in 26 developing countries, based on evidence compiled from recently collected nationally representative household surveys. We first briefly go into the position of UNESCO regarding linguistic issues as it emerges from UNESCO reports and papers. Then we present an overview of the research conducted so far in this area, with a focus on the available evidence for the existence of effects of home language on educational outcomes and the explanations given for these effects. After this literature review, we proceed to the empirical part of the report which presents country-specific and comparative analyses addressing the following key questions:

- 1. What is(are) the official language(s), the leading language(s) and the language(s) of instruction in primary and secondary education?
- 2. What is the relative size of the different linguistic groups within the countries and how does it differ among age groups (to indicate changes over time)?
- 3. To what extent do educational attainment levels of men and women aged 16-49 vary according to home language?
- 4. To what extent are there differences in attendance rates among primary and secondary school age children, according to their home languages?
- 5. To what extent are the differences in educational attendance among children from different home language groups due to variation in socio-economic status of the household, gender, and the degree of urbanization of the place in which they are living?
- 6. To what extent are differences among linguistic groups in educational attendance related to the degree to which the groups are concentrated in rural areas, the availabbility of mother-tongue based multilingual education, and the degree of linguistic fractionalization in the country?
- 7 Is the effect of mother-tongue based multilingual education stronger for linguistic groups concentrated in rural areas and for women?

A2. UNESCO's position

Various UNESCO declarations and conventions stress the educational rights of persons belonging to minority groups, the importance of mother tongue, and the promotion of cultural diversity (Article 5 of the 1960 Convention against Discrimination in Education; Article 22 of the 1976 Recommendation on the Development of Adult Education; Article 9 of the 1978 Declaration on Race and Racial Prejudice; Article 6 of the 2001 Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity).

These declarations are in line with international agreements, like the 1966 International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights which outlines the right of persons belonging to minorities to use their own language, and Article 28 of the 1989 ILO Convention on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples which states that, wherever practicable, children are to be taught to "read and write in their home language or in the language most commonly used by the group to which they belong (...) and that adequate measures should be taken to ensure that they have the opportunity to attain fluency in the national language or in one of the official languages of the country". Besides, measures shall be taken to "preserve and promote the development and practice of the indigenous languages of the peoples concerned."

In order to support these rights, UNESCO provides guidance on the implementation of bilingual and multilingual education policies for national policy-makers and planners, language of instruction policies, elaboration of teaching-learning materials in national languages, promoting cultural and linguistic diversity, and home language instruction in education. The basic guiding principles which have been common to all the documents, agreements and recommendations produced throughout the years of UNESCO's mandate for action in this field can be divided into three basic principles (UNESCO, 2003):

- 1. UNESCO supports mother-tongue instruction as a means of improving educational quality by building upon the knowledge and experience of the learners and teachers.
- UNESCO supports bilingual and/or multilingual education at all levels of education as a means
 of promoting both social and gender equality and as a key element of linguistically diverse
 societies.
- UNESCO supports language as an essential component of inter-cultural education in order to
 encourage understanding between different population groups and ensure respect for
 fundamental rights.

Instruction in one's home language is considered very important by UNESCO, because it fosters inclusion in education. According to UNESCO (2005), a linguistic mismatch between school and community may create problems in access to school services, especially with respect to girls' education, and "not all speakers of these languages have sufficient knowledge of the languages used in education. Therefore, they are underprivileged in terms of educational access, retention and achievement. In some cases, speakers of local languages are marginalized and threatened by being completely excluded from education due to prevailing language policies" (p. 3).

The 2006 EFA Report "Literacy for Life" discussed the disadvantages in education experienced by indigenous groups. The Report stated that there are approximately 300-350 million indigenous people who speak about 4000 to 5000 languages and live in more than 70 countries. According to

the Report there is evidence pointing towards significant disparities between indigenous and non-indigenous populations. Limited access to formal education is a good example; the literacy rates among indigenous people are significantly lower than those of non-indigenous people. The Report also recommended the use of mother tongue in education, because initial education in the mother tongue is widely recognized to be positive for a child's cognitive development. However, a majority of countries facing salient literacy challenges are linguistically diverse, and therefore decisions on language must balance besides pedagogical effectiveness and costs preferences also political and ethnic sensitivity, and learner preferences.

The 2008 Report "Education for All by 2015, Will we make it?", highlighted the fact that effective teaching and improved learning outcomes are intimately intertwined with issues of language. In many countries more languages are spoken than are used as medium of instruction. Therefore, many students enter school facing a foreign medium of instruction or a language that differs from the one spoken at home. The 2008 Report noted that research has consistently shown that children acquire linguistic and cognitive skills more readily in their mother tongue and are then able to transfer these to a widely used, national and regional language. The report also showed that, while there is still a long way to go, much progress is being made and there is increasing acceptance of multilingualism and mother-tongue instruction in primary education.

A3. Theoretical overview

A3.1 Home language and education

It has long been acknowledged that educational outcomes may be negatively affected if there is a difference between the languages which children speak at home and the languages used in the educational system. Empirical studies for both developed and developing countries show that pupils who have another home language than the language of instruction experience higher drop out rates (Steinberg, 1984; Van Dyken, 1990; Benson, 2000; Mohanlal, 2001; Hovens, 2002; Klaus, 2003; Bamgbose, 2005; Benson, 2005a; Lewis, 2006), higher repetition rates (Patrinos, 1997; Benson, 2000; Hovens, 2002; Klaus, 2003; Bamgbose, 2005; Benson, 2005a; Lewis, 2006) and have lower levels of attainment and achievement in general (Rosenthal, 1983; Rong, 1992; Rumberger, 1998; Beckett, 2002; Bamgbose, 2005; Lewis, 2006; Hampden-Thomson, 2006).

Especially with respect to disadvantaged, vulnerable groups, a difference between the home language and the language of instruction has a negative influence on schooling attainment and achievement. Vulnerable pupils in this respect may be rural children, poorer children and girls (Hovens, 2002; Benson, 2005a; Lewis, 2006). Lewis and Lockheed (2006) showed that nearly three-quarters of the 60 million girls not in school belong to ethnic, religious, linguistic, racial or

other minorities. As girls often have less contact with the language of instruction of a country, they may be more disadvantaged when they enter school than boys (Lewis, 2006). Smits and Gündüz-Hosgör (2003) for instance found that in Turkey over half of the (mostly rural) girls who did not go to primary education had a mother who was not able to speak Turkish. According to Lewis and Lockheed (2006), linguistic diversity within a country does not necessarily lead to a failure to educate pupils – the Basques in Spain are, for instance, linguistically diverse but have high levels of education. It is according to them, diversity accompanied by derogation and discrimination that leads to exclusion. They conclude that linguistic and ethnic heterogeneity reduces the likelihood of primary school completion for pupils and increases the gender gap in attainment.

Why would home language hamper educational outcomes? There are various explanations for low achievement and attainment of language-minority pupils. For psychological, sociological and educational reasons the use of mother tongue as medium of instruction is favored. Because educational systems often presuppose the possession of linguistic competence, there is a great deal of inefficiency in the 'pedagogic transmission' if, in fact, students do not understand what their teachers try to learn them (Akinnaso, 1993; Sullivan, 2001; Klaus, 2003; Lewis, 2006). Van Dyken (1990) argues that millions of African children find their first days at school bewildering as they not only have to adjust to the strange environment of school, but also to a teacher who does not speak their language. Benson (2002), furthermore, observed that when teachers and students are both speaking the same language, teachers can get a much better idea of what their students are learning (see also: Klaus, 2003). Bourdieu (1991) considers the ability to speak a country's dominant language properly as a social resource that may be helpful in gaining access to the country's desirable goods and positions. This linguistic capital may be transferred into other forms of capital like economic or social capital and thus help the "legitimate speakers of the legitimate language" on their path to societal success.

Children who speak a language at home that is different from that used in school often encounter discrimination and learning challenges (Lewis and Lockheed, 2006). According to Erickson (1987), differences in ways of speaking and listening between pupils and teachers can lead to systematic and recurrent miscommunications in the classroom. Steinberg et al. (1984) argue that the particular language spoken by non-English-speaking pupils in the United States may influence the way they are treated in educational institutions and their dropout rates.

Language and ethnicity are deeply intertwined. Ethnicity can be seen as a social construction that indicates identification with a particular group that is often a minority within a country. Members of ethnic groups share common cultural traits, such as their language. Language contributes to the social and psychological processes involved in the formation of ethnic identity

(Fought, 2006; Gündüz-Hosgör and Smits, 2002). A separate language helps to strengthen ethnic attachments and inter-ethnic group solidarity. The use of a local language may thus unify ethnic groups, but it may also isolate the members from the dominant language speaking part of the population and restrict them in their use of the society's legitimate resources, including education.

Persons who are not able to speak a country's dominant language often experience negative consequences. They have less access to written and spoken sources, cannot fulfill official jobs, are confined in their relationships to their own social group, and may depend on others for information that is important for them (Smits and Gündüz-Hosgör, 2003). Language and ethnicity may also be intertwined with conflicts, inequity and discrimination (Cornell and Hartmann, 1998; Lewis, 2006). In terms of educational attainment, people who do not speak the language of instruction have less opportunity to understand enrollment procedures, communicate with school officials, or comprehend what is being taught. When in school, the quality of education for these pupils is lower, because they do not understand what is being taught. This leads to inequalities of opportunity (Benson, 2005a). Lewis and Lockheed (2006), for instance, found indications that the cross-country correlation between ethno-linguistic fractionalization in developing countries and the learning achievements is negative. This result suggests that in countries with high linguistic diversity the educational system is not able to take this diversity in an adequate way into account.

A3.2 Mother-tongue instruction

To reduce the disadvantages experienced in school by children of a language background that differs from the language of instruction, mother-tongue based bilingual and multilingual education is broadly considered to be the best solution. In bilingual education, both the mother tongue and a regional or national language is used in education. In multilingual education, besides these two language also at least one international language is used (UNESCO, 2003).

Children who study in their mother tongue learn better and faster than children who study using second languages or non-mother tongues (see for instance: Akinnaso, 1993; Pong, 1993; Angrist, 1997; Malone, 2003; Woldemikael, 2003; Benson, 2005a, b; Baker, 2006; Lewis, 2006). Pupils who started in their mother tongues can read and write better, even in the second language (Lin, 1997; Okedara, 2000; Benson 2000; Brock-Utne, 2001; Benson, 2002; Hovens, 2002; Malone, 2003; Dutcher, 2004; Bamgbose, 2005; Baker, 2006). Benson (2000) describes how this process works: "Teaching beginning literacy in the child's first languages helps him/her make the connection between meaningful speech and written language, rather than struggling to decode a language which she does not command. Mother-tongue instruction also offers important benefits such as the

development of strong self-concept and self-confidence and higher-level cognitive skills, all of which can later be applied to learning in another language".

According to Benson (2000), pupils do not only benefit from use of the mother tongue in terms of cognitive skills and bilingualism, but also in terms of classroom participation and self-confidence. Benson (2002) argues that instruction in one's home language increases self-esteem in at least two ways. First, teachers can get more immediate and comprehensible feedback about what students know and what they are learning, so they can make more realistic evaluations of their pupils' performances. Second, children are allowed to express their full range of knowledge and experience in a language in which they are competent (see also: Klaus, 2003, Dutcher, 2004). In this respect, Brock-Utne (2006) observed in Tanzania that if one wants to develop pupils who think creatively and critically, while combining old and new knowledge, the learning going on in the classroom should be in the home language.

Another advantage of using home languages in schools is that it preserves minority languages and folk traditions (Yates, 1995; Lin, 1997; Brock-Utne, 2001; Benson, 2002; Woldemikael, 2003; Dutcher, 2004). In Eritrea, for instance, the government introduced a national educational policy based on the use of home languages as the medium of instruction in all public schools, in order to foster national unity, identity, and development while respecting cultural diversity (Woldemikael, 2003). In addition to this, it has been argued that mother-tongue instruction increases the active participation of parents in their child's school related activities, thus raising the child's esteem for the parents (Dutcher, 1995; Benson, 2002; Klaus, 2003; Malone, 2003; Dutcher, 2004; Benson, 2005a). If the parents can speak in their home language, they find meetings at school more useful, because they can understand the teachers and are no longer ashamed of using their own language (Benson, 2005b).

Especially with respect to disadvantaged group's educational attainment, adopting a more appropriate language of instruction may make a positive difference (Benson, 2005a; Lewis, 2006). Hovens (2002) argues that instruction in a pupil's home language seems to permit poorer children and girls to overcome their disadvantages and therefore improves the output of education systems. It appears that rural children get more of an advantage from instruction that starts in the home language (as in Niger) or in a widely spoken national language (as in Guinea-Bissau). Benson (2005b) finds that home language instruction is particularly beneficial for girls and leads to reduced exploitation by male teachers.

The choice of a language of instruction may be a political choice (Brock-Utne, 2001). Colonizers have often imposed dominant group languages in the countries controlled by them. Changing the language of instruction might redistribute power between the elite and the masses.

People's home language is, therefore, often ignored and the real linguistic composition of a society might not be reflected in its school system. Whether this is always negative for the non-dominant groups remains however to be seen. According to Gupta (1997), the promotion of education in the home language might lead to a separation of ethnic groups in the education system. If members of underprivileged groups do not learn the dominant language well, their access to powers structures in society might decrease even further. In this way, inequality among ethnic groups might be increased by mother-tongue instruction.

However, as becomes clear from the literature overview above, there are strong indications that, at least for pedagogical reasons, mother-tongue instruction may decrease inequality, because it decreases miscommunication in the classroom and improves pupil's self-esteem and motivation for learning (Erickson, 1987). In this respect, not only the language of instruction is important, but also the context of education. According the Mohanlal (2001), in order to increase a child's motivation to learn, the contents of education should be in accordance with the context in which the pupils live.

In short, the discrepancy between a child's home language and the language of instruction leads to lower levels of educational attendance, attainment and achievement. Although several nations have a great deal of experience in multilingual teaching, and there is a growing literature which documents linguistic experiments and innovation in school contexts (see for instance: Akinnaso, 1993; Benson, 2000), still most of the literature consists of case studies. Lewis and Lockheed (2006) argue that the evidence on educational attainment and performance among indigenous and non-indigenous populations relies for high-income OECD countries on a rich set of data, which however is largely lacking for developing countries. By presenting new figures derived from high-quality household-level surveys, the current study aims to fill in this data gap to a certain extent.

A4. Research strategy

To answer research questions 1 to 4 we have analyzed the information on home language available in representative survey data sets for 26 developing countries and constructed country profiles on the basis of the results. Each country profile contains:

- Background information on the linguistic situation in the country, including information on the 'official language', the three major 'leading languages in daily life', the 'language of instruction' in primary and secondary education, information on the data source used for constructing the profile and the way language was measured in the data.
- The percentages of the population aged 16 to 49 belonging to the different linguistic groups, for the group as a whole and for three age groups separately, to get an indication of the changes in size of the linguistic groups over time (Table 1).

- 3 Figures on educational attainment of males and females aged 16 to 49 belonging to the different linguistic groups (Table 2).
- 4 Figures on educational attendance of children of primary and secondary school age and children aged 7-11 and 12-16 with different home languages. This information is presented for all children in these age groups and for urban and rural areas separately (Table 3).
- 5 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios, indicating the differences in educational attendance according to home language for children of primary and secondary school age and children aged 7-11 and 12-16. The adjusted odds ratios are controlled for variation in household wealth, educational attainment, gender, parental absence and urbanization of place of living (Table 4).

The country profiles for the 26 countries are presented in Part C of this report. The key information from the country profiles is also summarized in Table B1 in Part B. This table gives an overview of all languages which according to our data are spoken in the study countries, together with the major findings regarding educational attainment and attendance of the members of the linguistic groups.

Most of the information presented in the country profiles is descriptive information that aims to show us how the situation with respect to home language and educational attendance and attainment is in the countries under study. However, this information does not give much insight into the underlying causes of the educational differences among the groups. In the theoretical part of this report, many arguments were given that help us understand why persons belonging to minority language group are less successful in the educational system. However the empirical evidence supporting these arguments consists mostly of case studies or studies that focus on the situation in developed countries. Broad cross-national comparative research of educational differences among linguistic groups in developing countries is largely lacking. We aim to make a step forward in this respect and have used our data to test the following five hypotheses that emerge from the theoretical overview section:

- H1 The differences in educational outcomes among linguistic groups are (partly) due to socioeconomic differences and/or differences in urbanization of the place of living among the groups.
- H2 The educational outcomes of linguistic groups are worse for groups concentrated in rural areas.
- H3 The differences in educational outcomes among linguistic groups are larger in countries with a higher degree of ethno-linguistic fractionalization.
- H4 The differences in educational outcomes among linguistic groups are smaller if there is mother-tongue based multilingual education in the language of the groups.

H5 The positive effect of mother-tongue based multilingual education is stronger for groups in less favorable situations (groups in rural areas and women).

To test hypothesis H1, we analysed the differences between the unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios for educational attendance of children presented in the country profiles. To test the other hypotheses, we performed a multilevel regression analysis in which the variation in educational attendance of children belonging to 153 linguistic groups was related to variation in availability of mother-tongue instruction, concentration in rural areas and the country's degree of linguistic fractionalization, while controlling for gender differences, size of the linguistic groups and the way in which language was measured (by home language or language of interview). Both analyses are performed only for the age groups of children (7-11 and 12-16) and not for the primary and secondary school age groups, because the former are better comparable among the countries (see section B1).

To keep the report readable for a broader audience, we have concentrated all technical information in Part B. There the interested reader will find detailed information on the micro-level datasets that are used, on the way the key variables were measured, on the selections that were made, and on the research methods that are applied. Here we proceed with the result section, in which we first go into the findings of the descriptive analyses (A5.1) and then present and discuss the results of the two multivariate analyses (A5.2 and A5.3).

A5. Results

A5.1 Descriptive findings

In Table B1, the most important figures of the country profiles are summarized. This table shows that the profiles contain information on over 160 local languages and seven international languages (English, French, Portuguese, Arabic, Spanish, Russian and Afrikaans). Although this number is impressive, the languages for which information is available represent only a part, and for some countries only a small part, of all spoken languages. For the goal of this report, analyzing the importance of home language for educational attendance and attainment in developing countries, this is not problematic. The included linguistic groups represent the large majority of the population of the countries and are very diverse with regard to the major variables of interest (educational attendance and attainment, group size, urbanization of place of living, socio-economic status of the members). It should however be kept in mind that the results do not necessarily pertain to very small linguistic groups (representing less than one percent of the population).

Table B1 shows that most of the local languages are spoken in substantial numbers in only one country, but there are also some languages that cross borders (e.g. Aymara, Tigrigna and Fulfulde).

The number of languages that are large enough to be included in this study varies among the countries, between only a few (like in Armenia, Peru, and Zimbabwe) and over 15 (India, Philippines, Mozambique). Some countries have one dominant language spoken by the majority of the population and a number of smaller ones (Armenia, Turkey, the Latin American countries), while in other countries two or more languages that are spoken by a substantial percentage of the population (India, Philippines, most African countries).

Educational attainment and attendance levels vary considerably among the countries and within the countries among the linguistic groups. In the former Soviet republics Armenia, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyz Republic there are hardly any adults with no education. In these countries, the number of children of primary and secondary school age who are not enrolled was so low, that it was not possible to compute reliable attendance figures for them. In Burkina Faso and Mali, on the other hand, over 70 percent of the adults have no education at all and less than half of the children in primary and secondary school age were actually attending.

Within most of the the countries, clear differences among the linguistic groups in attainment of adults and attendance of children can be observed. Almost everywhere, speakers of international languages do much better than speakers of local languages. But also the local language speakers show substantial differences in most of the countries. Sometimes the differences are very large, as in Cameroon (where 8 percent of the Pidgin speakers has no education against 60 percent of the Fulfulde speakers), in Eritrea (where 24 percent of the Tigrigna speakers has no education against 71 percent of the Tigre speakers), or in Nigeria (where 65 percent of the Hausa speakers has no education against less than 10 percent of the Yoruba and Igbo speakers). In other countries the differences are smaller, like in Ethiopia or Kazakhstan (where the educational attainment of adults is about similar for the distinguished groups). However, in none of the countries there are no differences at all.

The first major conclusion of this report is thus that in almost all of the 26 developing countries substantial differences in educational attendance and attainment among linguistic groups exist, with small within-country differences being the exception rather than the rule.

A5.2 Odds ratios for non-attendance

The non-attendance percentages presented in Table 3 of the country profiles (and columns 7 and 8 of Table B1) show the absolute levels of non-attendance of the linguistic groups. The unadjusted odds ratios presented in Table 4 of the country profiles (and columns 9 and 10 of Table B1) basically contain the same information, but shown from a different angle. They indicate to what extent non-attendance among the members of a linguistic group is higher or lower than the average

non-attendance among all linguistic groups in the country. To answer question 5 and test hypothesis H1, we have estimated the odds ratios for each country two times, one time unadjusted and one time adjusted for gender differences and differences in socio-economic status characteristics and urbanization of place of living among the linguistic groups. To compute these odds ratios, logistic regression models were estimated (see Part B for details of the analyses). The change in the size of the odds ratios after adjustment indicates the degree to which the attendance differences within the country are due to differences in socio-economic status characteristics and urbanization among the groups.

Because odds ratios are multiplicative parameters, the average over all linguistic groups is one. Values above one indicate higher than average non-attendance rates and values below one lower than average non-attendance rates. For example, the figure of 1.44 for 7-11 year olds with Aja as home language in Benin indicates that non-attendance among Aja-speaking children in this age group is 1.44 times higher than the country average. The Fon in Benin, on the other hand, do much better, with an odds ratio of 0.64, indicating a non-attendance rate substantially below average. The parameters also allow for a comparison between linguistic groups within the countries. In Benin, the Aja have 1.44/0.64=2.25 times higher non-attendance rates than the Fon.

Because of the very large number of figures in Table B1, it is difficult to draw conclusion that go further than that there is much variation among linguistic groups and countries. We therefore have summarized the findings at the country level in Table A1 (information on the way in which the figures in this table were computed can be found in section B3). Columns 2 and 3 of this table show the unadjusted and adjusted average effects of home language on educational attendance of children aged 7-11 in the countries. Similar effects for children aged 12-16 are presented in the 6th and 7th column. In all but one (Bolivia) of the countries, we observe significant unadjusted effects of home language on educational attendance for the younger children and in all countries on attendance of the older children. These findings are in line with the conclusion of the preceding section that differences in educational attendance among children with different home languages are widely present in all regions of the developing world.

The adjusted figures in columns 3 and 7 show what remains of these differences after adjustment for gender differences and differences in socio-economic status characteristics and urbanization among the groups. As all adjusted coefficients for the older children and all but three (Ghana, Peru, Philippines) of the adjusted coefficients for the younger children still show significant effects, we are led to the conclusion that the socio-economic and other differences for which the coefficients are adjusted only account for part of the attendance differences among the linguistic groups. A similar conclusion can also be drawn on the basis of the Pseudo R² statistics,

which are in most cases between 15 and 30 percent, which is not trivial, but also not too impressive. Hence, socio-economic explanations are only part of the answer.

Table A1. Overall effects of home language on educational attendance (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios), percentage reduction of effect when controlling for background characteristics, model fit of multivariate model, and linguistic characteristics of 22 developing countries

Country	Unadjusted 7-11	Adjusted 7-11	% Reduction	Pseudo R ² Adj	Unadjusted 12-16	Adjusted 12-16	% Reduction	Pseudo R ² Adj
Benin	1.69*	1.27*	54	25.9	1.87*	1.47*	39	30.0
Bolivia	1.01	1.16*	+	6.1	1.78*	1.59*	19	23.9
Burkina Faso	1.97*	1.21*	72	29.1	2.15*	1.29*	67	28.2
Cameroon	3.68*	2.49*	30	42.7	2.31*	1.76*	33	29.4
Eritrea	1.71*	1.49*	25	33.5	1.73*	1.50*	25	29.9
Ethiopia	1.50*	1.54*	+	17.5	1.24*	1.17*	27	19.1
Ghana	1.47*	1.08	81	16.4	1.87*	1.46*	40	18.0
Guatemala	1.34*	1.18*	44	16.2	1.23*	1.24*	+	27.0
Guinea	1.83*	1.77*	5	26.7	1.39*	1.41*	+	23.5
India	1.60*	1.48*	17	27.9	1.42*	1.40*	2	28.0
Kenya	4.17*	1.88*	56	39.4	3.85*	2.02*	48	24.1
Mali	1.61*	1.34*	39	24.3	1.52*	1.21*	53	31.0
Mozambique	1.75*	1.40*	39	25.6	1.60*	1.38*	31	18.5
Namibia	1.55*	1.80*	+	19.2	2.00*	2.46*	+	22.9
Nepal	2.36*	2.63*	+	25.6	2.06*	2.21*	+	22.6
Nigeria	2.13*	1.83*	20	39.8	1.97*	1.81*	12	32.6
Peru	1.47*	1.08	81	6.6	1.19*	1.40*	+	16.9
Philippines	1.27*	1.14	45	13.9	1.21*	1.10*	48	14.7
South Africa	1.66*	1.60*	6	1.0	1.39*	1.32*	15	1.0
Togo	1.67*	1.25*	57	25.6	2.04*	1.69*	26	26.7
Turkey	2.19*	1.70*	32	30.5	1.75*	1.49*	28	34.3
Zambia	1.23*	1.31*	+	21.4	1.26*	1.18*	29	15.9

^{*} Home language effect significant at P<0.05

The figures presented in columns 4 and 8 of the table give an indication of the part of the attendance differences that is due to differences in the background characteristics. For both age groups the reduction is 25 percent or more in 13 of the 22 countries. So in the majority of countries the background characteristics play a role of importance. This result provides support for hypothesis H1. At the same time, there are for both age groups also six or seven countries for which the decrease was very small or in which the language effect even increased after adjusment. Such an increase is possible if a wealthy or urbanized group has relatively low participation rates compared to less urbanized or wealthy groups within the same countries. This is for example the case with the Nama-speakers (Damara and Nama) in Namibia, who in our data are over-represented in the fourth and fifth wealth-quintiles and in the urban areas but do not perform better with regard to educational participation than the other Namibian groups. The countries in which we observe an increase are

⁺ Overall effect increased after controlling for family background factors

Bolivia, Ethiopia, Namibia, Nepal and Zambia for the younger children and Guatemala, Guinea, Namibia, Nepal and Peru for the older children. As these are countries from different regions of the developing world, no clear geographic pattern in their distribution seems to exist.

The findings presented in this section thus lead us to the conclusion that – in line with hypothesis H1 -- differences in socio-economic status and urbanization of place of living among linguistic groups are often, but not always, responsible for a substantial part of the within-country differences in educational attendance of children belonging to the groups. At the same time we have to conclude that these factors generally account for less than half of the attendance differences and that after adjustment for them in almost all countries significant attendance differences among the linguistic groups remain. Hence socio-economic explanations give only part of the answer and other explanations for the attendance differences have to be sought, with discrepancies between the language spoken at home and the language of instruction being the major candidate. In the next section, the importance of this and some other factors will be analysed in detail.

To reduce the disadvantages experienced in school by children of a language background that

A5.3 Multi-level analysis of differences among linguistic groups

differs from the language of instruction, mother-tongue based bilingual and multilingual education is broadly considered to be the best solution. In the theoretical overview section, appealing arguments in favor of this position are given, which are moreover supported by much empirical research. Most of the evidence is however based on case studies or studies focused on the situation in highly developed countries. Broad comparative research on the effects of mother-tongue instruction on educational attendance in developing countries is largely lacking. In this section, we use the information in the country-profiles on educational attendance of children for 153 linguistic groups in 23 countries to test four hypotheses (H2 to H5) on effects of characteristics of the linguistic groups and the context in which the members live on educational attendance of children belonging to the groups. We have constructed a dataset that contains, for each linguistic group, information on its size (as percentage of the country's population), the percentage of its members living in rural areas, and an indicator for the presence of mother-tongue instruction in that language. This dataset is supplemented with information at the country level on the degree of linguistic fractionalization and whether or not the language of the interview was used to indicate mother tongue. To get an indication of the degree to which mother-tongue instruction is available for each of the 153 languages, a scale was constructed on the basis of an extensive review of the available literature and internet information. This scale has the following categories: (0) Not at all, (1) Some schools/experiments, (2) About half of schools, (3) Most schools, and (4) All

schools. As the literature is often vague and sometimes contradictory and the availability of mother-tongue instruction tends to change over time, the scale is not perfect. However, we feel confident (and the results seem to confirm) that it gives a crude indication of the degree to which the members of a language can get schooling in their mother tongue, which is good enough for use in a multivariate analysis (for further details see sections B4 and B5).

Table A2. Coefficients of multilevel regression models with non-attendance percentages of linguistic groups as dependend variable and selected characteristics of linguistic groups and countries as independent variables for 153 linguistic groups in 23 countries

	Age 7-11		Age	: 12-16
	В	se(B)	В	se(B)
Intercept	-4.80	16.1	15.7	15.4
Mother-tongue instruction	-4.38**	0.86	-4.12**	0.95
Percentage in rural area	0.25**	0.04	0.17**	0.05
Interaction mother-tongue instruction with rural	-0.10**	0.03	-0.08**	0.03
Gender is female	3.85**	1.31	9.30**	1.46
Interaction mother-tongue instruction with gender	-0.60	0.91	-1.11	1.02
Size of linguistic group	-0.02	0.04	-0.06	0.05
Country level				
Linguistic fractionalization	23.7	21.8	-3.45	20.7
Language of interview	6.66	10.3	12.3	9.74

Using this dataset, we have performed multilevel regression analyses with the percentages of children who are not in school as dependent variables and the characteristics of the linguistic groups and their contexts as independent variables. The results, presented in Table A2, are largely similar for both age groups. The effect of mother-tongue instruction is significantly negative at both levels, which indicates that non-attendance of children with a certain home language is lower if mother-tongue instruction for that language is available at more of the schools frequented by that linguistic group. Hence, in line with hypothesis H4, mother-tongue instruction turns out to be favorable for educational attendance of children in the countries studied.

The coefficients for mother-tongue instruction in Table A2 represent the average percentual decrease of non-attendance with each upward step on our scale. However, as the scale gives only a crude indication of the availability of mother-tongue instruction and the effects on educational attendance probably are not completely linear, we also have entered this variable in the form of dummy variables. It turned out that the major difference is between the two lowest and the three

highest categories. If mother-tongue instruction is available at about half or more of the schools frequented by the members of a linguistic group, the percentage of children out of school in that group was about 10 percent lower compared to groups for which mother-tongue instruction is not or only at a restricted number of schools available.

Table A2 further shows that also the degree to which the members of a linguistic group are living in rural areas is important for educational attendance: Children belonging to linguistic groups that are more concentrated in rural areas have significantly higher levels of non-attendance. This result supports hypothesis H2. Besides the main effect of living in rural areas, also the interaction of this variable with the presence of mother-tongue instruction is significant: In rural areas the reduction of non-attendance due to mother-tongue instruction is stronger. Hence, in line with hypothesis H5, our results make clear that children living under the more difficult circumstances that are generally encountered in the rural areas of the developing world tend to benefit most of mother-tongue instruction.

Our findings with regard to the gender differences in educational attendance are not in line with hypothesis H5. Although clear gender differences in educational attendance are found, with girls having higher non-attendance rates than boys, the size of these differences is not related to the extent of mother-tongue instruction in their home languages. Hence, both boys and girls seem to profit about equally of mother-tongue instruction.

The degree of linguistic fractionalization of the country in which the linguistic group members live has no significant effect on educational attendance. Hypothesis 3 is thus not supported by our data. Also the control factors size of the linguistic group and whether the language of the interview was used to indicate home language are not significantly related to educational attendance.

In sum, our multilevel analysis of variation in educational non-attendance shows that in developing countries mother-tongue based multilingual education is important for educational attendance of children speaking local languages at home and that this effect is especially important for linguistic groups that are concentrated in rural areas of the countries.

A6. Conclusions

In this report, survey data on the use of home language and its consequences for educational attendance and attainment are brought together for over 160 languages spoken in 26 developing countries. For each country, a country profile is constructed with background information on the linguistic situation in the country, information on the languages spoken, and on the sizes of the linguistic groups that could be distinguished, and information on educational attainment of adults and educational attendance of children belonging to these groups. The country profiles reveal a

wealth of variation with respect to all characteristics of the countries and linguistic groups studied. With regard to the major outcome variables of this study, educational attendance and attainment, inequality among linguistic groups turned out to be pervasive. In almost all countries, some of the groups are better able to build up human capital and get their children into school than other groups.

The exact pattern of the differences varies among the countries. Sometimes there is one group that clearly performs better than all others, like the Spanish speakers in the Latin American countries studied or the Nepali speakers in Nepal. Sometimes there is one group which performs clearly less than the others, like the Fulfulde in Cameroon, the Hausa in Nigeria, or the Nyanja in Zambia. Sometimes the largest group performs best, as in Turkey, Eritrea and, Bolivia and sometimes a smaller group like in Cameroon, Guinea and Nigeria. Each country, in fact, shows a unique constellation of the factors that are central in this study: number of linguistic groups, sizes of the groups, educational attainment of adults and educational attendance of children.

The underlying processes within the countries that are responsible for the observed national patterns could not be addressed within this study. To understand them well, for each separate country an extensive study would be necessary, going much farther than this report. It is not our intention to present such an indepth study. We aim to scetch a broad overview of the situation with regard to home language and education in the developing world and to use the variation within and among countries to answer questions about the nature of the differences in educational performance among linguistic groups and the effectiveness of mother-tongue instruction in reducing them.

Regarding the nature of the differences among the linguistic groups, we hypothesized that they would be in part the result of differences in socio-economic characteristics and urbanization of place of living of the groups. This hypothesis was tested by estimating, for each country separately, the variation in educational attendance among children with different home languages, one time unadjusted and one time adjusted for variation in socio-economic and other background chracteristics. The difference between the unadjusted and adjusted coefficients gives an indication of the proportion of the differences in educational attendance among the groups that is due to differences in the background characteristics. This proportion was in most cases less than 50 percent and in half of the cases less than 30 percent. This means that only part of the variation can be explained by differences in the background characteristics, and that thus a substantial part of the variation is caused by other factors, of which the difficulties experienced at school by children of minority language background is the most likely candidate.

If this would indeed be the case, we would expect to find fewer differences in educational attendance among linguistic groups, if the friction between home language and language of instruction would be solved by mother-tongue based multilingual education. To test this and other

hypotheses, we have estimated multilevel regression models in which the variation in educational attendance among 153 linguistic groups in 23 countries was explained on the basis of explanatory variables at the linguistic group level (percentage living in rural areas, size of the group, degree to which mother-tongue instruction is available for the group, gender) and at the country level (degree of linguistic fractionalization and a control factor for the way language was measured).

The multilevel analyses made clear that the presence of mother-tongue instruction indeed leads to a major reduction in non-participation of both younger (7-11) and older (12-16) children. If half or more of the schools frequented by the members of a linguistic group offer instruction in the language of that group, the percentage of children out of school is on average 10 percent lower than if only a restricted number or no schools would offer this instruction. The analyses further showed that children of linguistic groups that are more concentrated in rural areas experience greater attendance problems, and that these children profit even more from mother-tongue instruction than children belonging to more urbanized groups.

We also tested whether mother-tongue instruction would be especially helpful in reducing the disadvantages experienced by girls in the educational system, but found no support for this hypothesis. Both boys and girls were found to profit about equally of mother-tongue instruction. Of the other variables included in the analysis, none had significant effects. Hence neither size of the linguistic group, nor the country's degree of linguistic fractionalization play a role of importance.

The finding that non-attendance rates of children differ much among the linguistic groups studied in this report and that these differences are substantially reduced if there is mother-tongue instruction in the language of a group, shows two important things that were already widely known from empirical studies and field work reports, but were not yet solidly founded in broad comparative research: (1) language problems are a non-negligible source of educational attendance problems of children in developing countries, and (2) mother-tongue instruction is a major instrument for overcoming these problems and increasing educational attendance, especially for groups in difficult circumstances.

In sum, this report presented figures on home language and education for 26 developing countries that reveal non-negligible differences in educational attendance and attainment among linguistic groups within almost all countries. The analyses of the differences indicated that in most countries they are in part but not completely due to differences in socio-economic status characteristics and urbanization among the groups. The analyses also showed that for reduction of these differences mother-tongue based multilingual education is a major instrument, which is especially important for linguistic groups living under the more difficult circumstances of the rural areas of the developing world.

A7. Definitions

Home language Language spoken in the home^a

Note: some people have more than one home language

Official language Language adopted by a country for public administrative and

institutional use, often including schools^a

Language of instruction Language used for teaching and learning the school curriculum, also

called medium of instruction^a

Local language Language spoken in the immediate community^a

Note: may refer to languages that are not yet fully developed in

written form.

Leading language Language spoken by a substantial part of the population

Mother-tongue instruction Using the learner's mother tongue as the medium of instruction^b

Multilingual education The use of two or more languages as medium of instruction. When

two languages are used, the term bilingual education may be used. In 1999 in the General Conference Resolution 12, UNESCO adopted

the term multilingual education to refer to the use of at least three

languages, the mother tongue, a regional or national language and an

international language in education^b

^a Source: UNESCO (2007b)

^b Source: UNESCO (2003)

A8. References

- Akinnaso, F.N. (1993), Policy and Experiment in Mother Tongue Literacy in Nigeria, International Review of Education, Vol. 39 (4): 255-285.
- Alesino, A., A. Devleeschauwer, W. Easterly, S. Kurlat and R. Wacziarg (2003), Fractionalization. Journal of Economic Growth, Vol. 8, 155-194.
- Angrist, J.D. (1997), The Effect of a Change in Language of Instruction on the Returns to Schooling in Morocco, Journal of Labor Economics, Vol. 15 (1): S48 S76.
- Baker, Colin (2006), Foundations of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 4th edition, Multilingual matters LTD: Clevedon, England.
- Bamgbose, A. (2005), Mother-tongue Education, Lessons from the Yoruba Experience, in: Brock-Utne, B. and R.K. Hopson (2005), Languages of Instruction for African Emancipation: Focus on Postcolonial Contexts and Considerations, Cape Town: CASAS.
- Beckett, M. and A.R. Pebley (2002), Ethnicity, Language, and Economic Well-Being in Rural Guatemala, RAND, Labor and Population Program, Working Paper Series 02-05
- Benson, C.J. (2000), The Primary Bilingual Education Experiment in Mozambique, 1993 to 1997, International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, Vol. 3 (3): 149-166.
- Benson, C.J. (2002), Real and Potential Beneftis of Bilingual Programmes in Developing Countries, International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, Vol. 5(6): 303-317.
- Benson, C. (2005a), Girls, educational equity and mother tongue, Bangkok: UNESCO.
- Benson, C. (2005b), The Importance of mother tongue-based schooling for educational quality, Commissioned study for EFA Global Monitoring Report 2005.
- Brock-Utne, B. (2001), Education for All: In Whose Language?, Oxford Review of Education, Vol. 27(1): 115-134.
- Brock-Utne, B. (2006), Learning through a familiar language versus learning through a foreign language A look into some secondary school classrooms in Tanzania, International Journal of Educational Development 27: 487-498.
- Buchmann, C. and E. Hannum (2001), Education and Stratification in Developing Countries: A Review of Theories and Research, Annual Review of Sociology, 27: 77-102.
- Cornell, S. and D. Hartmann (1998), Ethnicity and Race: Making Identities in a Changing World. California, Pine Forge Press.
- Dutcher, N, (1995), The Use of First and Second Languages in Education. A Review of International Experience. Pacific Island Discussion Paper Series No. 1, Washington DC: World Bank.

- Dutcher, N. (2004), Language Policy and Education in Multilangual Societies: Lessons from Three Positive Models, Center for Applied Linguistics.
- Dyken, J.R. Van (1990), The Role of Languages of Minority Groups for Literacy and Education in Africa, African Studies Review, Vol. 33 (3), Special Issue for the International Year of Literacy: 39-52.
- Erickson, F. (1987), Transformation and School Success: The Politics and Culture of Educational Achievement, Anthropology & Education Quarterly, Vol. 18 (4): 335-356
- Gündüz-Hosgör, A. & J. Smits (2002). Intermarriage between Turks and Kurds in contemporary Turkey: Inter-ethnic relations in an urbanizing environment. European Sociological Review, 18, 417-432.
- Filmer, D. & Pritchett, L. (1999). The Effect of Household Wealth on Educational Attainment: Evidence from 35 Countries. Population and Development Review, 25 (1), 85-120.
- Fought, C. (2006), Language and Ethnicity, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gupta, A.F. (1997), When Mother-tongue Education is not Preferred, Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development, Vol. 18 (6): 496-506.
- Hampden-Thompson, G. and J.S. Johnston (2006), Variation in the Relationship Between Nonschool Factors and Student Achievement on International Assessments, National Center for Education Statistics, NCES 2006-014
- Hovens, M. (2002), Bilingual Education in West Africa: Does It Work?, International Journal of Bilingual education and Bilingualism, vol. 5 (5): 249 266
- Hox, J. (2002). Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications. New York, Erlbaum.
- Huisman, J. & J. Smits (forthcoming). Effects of household and district-level factors on primary school enrollment in 30 developing countries. *World Development*.
- Klaus, D. (2003), The Use of Indigenous Languages in Early Basic Education in Papua New Guinea: A Model for Elsewhere?, Language and Education, Vol. 17 (2): 105-111.
- Lewis, M. and M. Lockheed (2006), Inexcusable Absence: Why 60 Million Girls Still Aren't in School and What to do About it, Washington, D.C.: Center for Global Development.
- Lin, J. (1997), Policies and Practices of Bilingual Education for the Minorities in China, Journal of Multilangual and Multicultural Development, Vol. 18 (3): 193-205.
- Malone, D.L., (2003), Developing Curriculum Materials for Endangered Language Education: Lessons from the Field, International Journal of Bilingual education and Bilingualism, Vol. 6 (5): 332-348.

- Mohanlal, S. (2001), Mother Tongue education and psycho-societal involvement in tribal communities: a case study of Paniya Tribe, Language in India, Vol. 1 (3), available online: http://www.languageinindia.com/may2001
- Nagelkerke, N. (1991), A note on a general definition of the coefficient of determination. Biometrika, 78, 691-692.
- Okedara, J.T. and C.A. Okedara (1992), Mother-Tongue Literacy in Nigeria, Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, Vol. 520: 91-102.
- Patrinos, H.A. and G. Psacharopoulos (1997), Family size, schooling and child labor in Peru An empirical analysis, Journal of Population Economics, 10: 387-405.
- Pong, S. (1993), Preferential Policies and Secondary School Attainment in Peninsular Malaysia, Sociology of Education, Vol. 66 (4): 245-261.
- Rong, X.L. and L. Grant (1992), Ethnicity, Generation, and School Attainment of Asians, Hispanics, and Non-Hispanic Whites, The Sociological Quarterly, Vol. 33 (4): 625-636.
- Rosenthal, A.S., K. Baker and A. Ginsburg (1983), The Effect of Language Background on Achievement Level and Learning Among Elementary School Students, Sociology of Education, Vol. 56 (4): 157 169.
- Rumberger, R.W. and K.A. Larson (1998), Toward Explaining Differences in Educational Achievement among Mexican American Language-Minority Students, Sociology of Education, Vol. 71 (1): 68-92.
- Schmid, C.L. (2001), Educational Achievement, Language-Minority Students, and the New Second Generation, Sociology of Education Extra Issue, Vol.74: 71-87.
- Smits, J. & A. Gündüz-Hosgör (2003). Linguistic capital: Language as a socio-economic resource among Kurdish and Arabic women in Turkey. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 26, 829-853.
- Smits, J. & A. Gündüz-Hosgör (2006). Effects of family background characteristics on educational participation in Turkey. International Journal of Educational Development, 26, 545-560.
- Snijders, T., & Bosker, R. (1999). Multilevel Analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling. Sage Publishers.
- Steinberg, L., P.L. Blinde and K.S. Chan (1984), Dropping out among Language Minority Youth, Review of Educational Research, Vol. 54 (1): 113-132.
- Sullivan, A. (2001), Cultural Capital and Educational Attainment, Sociology, Vol. 35 (4): 893-912.
- UNESCO (2000), World Culture Report 2000. Online available at http://www.unesco.org/culture/worldreport)
- UNESCO (2003), Education in a Multilangual World, Unesco Position Paper, Paris: United Nations.

- UNESCO (2005), "First Language First: Community-Based Literacy Programmes for Minority Language Contexts in Asia", Bangkok: INESCO
- UNESCO (2005), Mother tongue-based teaching and education for girls: advocacy brief, Bangkok: UNESCO.
- UNESCO (2005), Literacy for Life, EFA Global Monitoring Report 2006, Paris: UNESCO
- UNESCO (2007), Education for All by 2015, Will we make it?, EFA Global Monitoring Report 2008, Paris: UNESCO
- UNESCO (2007b). Advocacy Kit for Promoting Multilingual Education: Including the Excluded. Bangkok: UNESCO Bangkok.
- Woldemikael, T.M. (2003), Language, education, and public policy in Eritrea, African Studies Review, Vol. 46, No. 1, pp. 117-136.
- Yates, R. (1995), Functional Literacy and the Language Question, International Journal Educational Development, Vol. 15 (4): 437-447.

PART B. TECHNICAL DETAILS

B1. Data

The micro-level data used for this report are all Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS), which are nationally representative household surveys, sponsored by USAID, that have been held in the last decades in many developing countries. The aim of the DHS endeavor is to provide data for a wide range of monitoring and impact evaluation indicators in the areas of population, health, and nutrition (www.measuredhs.com). The DHS surveys consist of a household survey, in which basic information on all household members is collected (including educational information), and a women's survey, in which extensive information is collected on a large number of topics related to (reproductive) health and fertility in oral interviews with all women aged 16-49 in the households.

Information on home language is not standardly asked in DHS surveys. However, besides a large number of standard questions, in most surveys also country-specific questions are asked among which there sometimes are questions on language spoken by the respondent or in the household. Of the surveys that lack such questions, a substantial number contains information on the language in which the interview was held that can be used as an alternative for directly asked language information. For the following 26 countries enough language information was available in recent (1997+) DHS surveys to include them in this study: Bolivia, Guatemala, Peru, Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, Mali, Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, South Africa, Togo, Zambia, Zimbabwe, India, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Nepal, Philippines, Armenia, and Turkey. We thus have three countries in Latin America, 15 countries in Africa, six countries in Asia, one country in Europe, and one country partly in Europe and partly in Asia (Turkey). For 16 of the countries the data are for 2000 or later. The oldest data, 1997, are for Kyrgyz Republic.

For all countries, the data allow the construction of tables with information on adult educational attainment according to language and age group. However, for some of the countries -- Armenia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Kenya, South Africa, Zimbabwe -- it was not possible to construct the tables on educational attendance of children or to do the multivariate analysis, because the data set contained too few children out of school to make a reliable analysis possible. For these countries only the first two or three tables are presented.

The number of local languages spoken in the countries that are studied ranges from a few to many hundreds. Although the number of persons for which information is available in the DHS surveys is rather large (ranging from 10,000 to over 100,000), many of the smaller linguistic groups are not well represented in the data and therefore cannot be studied in this report. In Table 1 of the

country profiles, an overview is given of all languages for which at least some information is available in the data, together with the number of respondents speaking the language in our database. Table 1 and 2 present information for the 16-49 age group. The upper limit was chosen at 49 because this was the upper age limit used in the DHS women's surveys, from which part of the information was derived.

Of the linguistic groups represented in Table 1, only the larger ones are included as a separate category in Table 2, which shows the variation in educational attainment among linguistic groups. To get meaningful figures in this table, we included only linguistic groups with at least 40 speakers in the 16-49 age group. Also in Table 3, which shows non-attendance percentages for various categories of children, only percentages are shown for cells that contain at least 40 children. For Table 4, which shows unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios for being not enrolled in school, the size criterion is slightly different. For logistic regression analysis, the technique with which these odds ratios are computed, it is the number of cases in the smallest category of the dependent variable which counts. Because this number of cases must be large enough to reliably estimate the coefficients of the languages categories and the control factors (household wealth, education, gender, and urbanization), we included only languages in this analysis for which the smallest category of the dependent variable contained at least 50 children. Local languages that were too small to be included as a separate category in Tables 2-4 are when possible brought together in the category "other local languages". Foreign languages for which too little information was available are not included in these tables.

Our analysis of educational attendance of children is done separately for four groups of children. To get an impression of the role of home language for attendance in primary and secondary school, we divided the children for each country into age groups that represent the official national age groups for primary (ISCED code 1) and secondary (ISCED code 2 and 3) education for the year in which the survey was held. Because age was used to assign children to those groups, it should be kept in mind that some of the children assigned to the secondary school category might at the time of the survey still have been in primary education (because of starting schooling late or repeating classes).

A disadvantage of using the official ISCED age categories for grouping the children is that the normal ages for being in primary or secondary education differs much among countries. As a result, the figures on effects of home language on attendance using the official age groups are not very well comparable cross-nationally. We, therefore, also grouped the children on the basis of age groups that are the same in all countries, namely 7-11 and 12-16. We choose the lower boundary for this grouping to be age 7, and not at the usual primary starting age of 6, because the educational

attendance of children who go to school for the first time in survey data depends on the month in which the survey is held. As the new school year most often starts in September or October, children who go to school for the first time might be included as enrolled in surveys held in autumn but not in surveys held earlier in the year. The upper limit for the cross-national comparable figures was chosen at age 16, because the parental background information used in the multivariate analysis may not be available for older children (who may have left their parental families because of early marriage). It should be noted that because of these problems, the presented figures for the official national age groups may be somewhat less reliable than the ones for the cross-national comparable age groups.

B2. Measuring language

The available information on home language varies much among the surveys. A basic distinction is between surveys in which the information was asked in the household interview and surveys in which it was asked in the women's interview. The first situation is preferable, because in that case the information is in principle available for all household members. In the second situation, the information is only available if there are women aged 16-49 in the household. This may influence the estimates in the country profile tables to a certain extent, because men and children living in households without women in this age range are not included in the analyses. If home language was derived from the women's interview, we used the language information of the oldest woman related to the household head for which it was available. If the language information was derived from the household survey, and more than one language was spoken in the household, we used only the language of the respondent.

The language questions themselves also differed among the surveys. They ranged form respondent's language (Eritrea, Ethiopia, India, Namibia, Philippines, Zambia), native language (Armenia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Nepal, Nigeria), childhood language (Bolivia), home language (Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, South Africa), mothers language (Guatemala), mother tongue (Turkey), language learned to speak (Mozambique), to ethnicity (Peru), Sometimes the language spoken by the respondent was not asked explicitly, but had to be derived from information on the language in which the interview was held (Benin, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Mali, Togo, Zimbabwe). The first situation seems preferable, because language of interview may underestimate the speaking of local languages at home to a certain extent. If one of the parents speaks a major language besides the local language, the interview can be held in the major language. This implies however also that if the interview was held in a local language, the household probably has no member who is able to speak one of the major language(s) fluently. In that case, the effects of home

language on schooling will probably be stronger. The information on the official language(s) and the leading languages in daily life presented in the country profiles are derived from UNESCO (2000, Table 6). If more than three leading languages are mentioned in the report, only the first three are presented. Information on language of instruction was derived from various sources referred to by the notes after the country name.

B3. Individual level multivariate analysis

To find out whether and to what extent the association between home language and educational attendance of children is due to differences in wealth, education or other characteristics of the family background, in Table 4 of the country profiles, unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios for the association between home language and educational attendance are presented. To estimate these odds ratios, we performed for each country separately a bivariate and a multivariate logistic regression analysis with the odds of being out of school of the children as dependent variable and dummy variables indicating the home language groups as independent variables. The odds ratios presented in table 4 are defined as deviations of the average over all language categories. That means that they indicate to what extent non-attendance of children with a specific home language is higher or lower than average in the country.

In the multivariate models, parental education, household wealth, absence of the parents, gender and urbanization were included as control factors. These factors are known to be the major determinants of educational attendance (e.g. Huisman & Smits, forthcoming) and can also be expected to vary among the different home language groups. Besides these factors Parental education was measured as the highest educational level attained by one of the parents, divided into three categories: no education, primary education and more than primary education. If parental education was missing, the highest educational level attained by another adult member of the household was substituted. Household wealth was measured by an index constructed on the basis of household assets, possession of land, and housing characteristics, using a method developed by Filmer & Pritchett (1999). On the basis of this index, all households within a country were ranked according to their assets and subsequently divided into wealth index quintiles. The wealth variable used in the analysis has five categories (1) lowest 20%, (2) 20-40%, (3) 40-60%, (4) 60-80%, (5) upper 20%. It was included in the analysis in the form of four dummies with the lowest wealth quintile as reference group. Absence of the parents was measured by a dummy with value one when neither parent of the child was living in the household at the time of the interview (e.g. children living within the extended family, foster children, domestic workers). Urbanization was measured

by a dummy with value one if the household was living in a rural area, using the definition used in the Demographic and Health Surveys.

To get a crude indication of the proportion of the variance in educational attendance that is explained in the multivariate analyses, for each model the pseudo R² according to Nagelkerke (1991) is presented in Table 4. To get an overall indicator of the strength of the home language effect on attendance at the country level, we computed the geometric mean of the odds ratios for the languages. To make this computation possible, we first transformed the odds ratios with values below one into their reciprocals. The average effect sizes for the countries are presented in Table A1. This table also presents an indicator of the degree to which the average effect size decreases when the background factors are entered into the multivariate model, and hence to what extent the differences in educational attendance among children with different home languages in a country is due to differences in other family background characteristics among the linguistic groups.

B4. Multilevel analysis

To gain insight into the importance of characteristics of linguistic groups and of the contexts in which they live for educational non-attendance of children, we tested hypotheses on effects of mother-tongue instruction, concentration of the group in rural areas and national linguistic fractionalization on data for 153 linguistic groups using regression analysis. Separate analyses were performed for children aged 7-11 and children aged 12-16. Because the linguistic groups were clustered within countries and explanatory variables at two levels of aggregation were used (linguistic group level and country level), multilevel regression models were estimated (see Snijders & Bosker, 1999; Hox, 2002).

The dependent variable in these analyses, educational non-attendance, was measured by the percentages of children aged 7-11 and 12-16 who were reported to be not in school at the time of the interview. The percentages were computed separately for boys and girls, so that also gender differences could be studied. The direct effect of gender on educational attendance is not so relevant for this report, because the lower attendance rates of girls in developing countries is a well-established fact. However, testing for the presence of an interaction effect between the availability of mother-tongue instruction and gender may give us an idea of the importance of mother-tongue instruction for overcoming gender differences in education.

Independent variables at the linguistic group level were a constructed indicator of the availability of mother-tongue instruction, the percentage of the members of the linguistic group living in rural areas (according to the DHS definition of rural used in the surveys) and the size of the linguistic group in percentages of the population of the country. Independent variables at the

country level were the degree of linguistic fractionalization and a dummy indicating whether (1) or not (0) language of the interview was used to indicate home language in the country. The index of linguistic fractionalization was derived from Alesina et al. (2003), who made a detailed analysis of the number and size of linguistic, ethnic and religious groups within many countries and presented three fractionalization indices for about 190 countries: a linguistic, an ethnic, and a religious fractionalization index. In the analyses presented in section A5.3, the linguistic index was used. However, we also estimated the multilevel models with the ethnic fractionalization index. It turned out that in neither model the fractionalization variables were significant and that all other coefficients were almost exactly the same.

To measure the degree to which mother-tongue instruction is available for the about 150 languages included in this analysis, we have constructed a scale on the basis of an extensive review of the available information in the literature and at the internet. This scale has the following categories: (0) Not at all, (1) Some schools/experiments, (2) About half of schools, (3) Most schools, and (4) All schools. As the literature is often vague and sometimes contradictory and the availability of mother-tongue instruction tends to change over time, the scale is not perfect. However, we feel confident (and the results seem to confirm) that it gives a crude indication of the degree to which the members of a language can get schooling in their mother tongue, which is good enough for use in a multivariate analysis (that can handle measurement error). An overview of the sources that were used for constructing the scale is presented in section B5.

The number of linguistic groups included in the analyses was 153 for children aged 7-11 and 150 for children aged 12-16. All linguistic groups for which enough information on all variables was available were included, including the international languages. To test whether the results were influenced by the presence of international languages, we repeated the analyses without them. The results turned out to be substantially the same.

B5. Sources of information on mother-tongue instruction

General sources (used for more countries)

- Albaugh, E.A. (2005). *The Colonial Image Reversed: Advocates of Multilingual Education in Africa*, Appendix A, *Language Policies in 48 African States*, Ph.D. Dissertation, Duke University, Durham, NC.
- Alidou, H. et al. (*Draft version*). Optimizing Learning and Education in Africa the Language Factor, A Stock-taking Research on Mother Tongue and Bilingual Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Association for the Development of Education in Africa (ADEA). Online available: www.adeanet.org
- Bamgbose, A. (2004). *Language of Instruction Policy and Practice in Africa*. Online available: www.unesco.org/education
- Federal Research Division of the Library of Congress. *Country Studies/Area Handbook Series*. Online available: http://countrystudies.us/
- Gordon, Raymond G., Jr. (ed.) (2005). *Ethnologue: Languages of the World, Fifteenth edition*. Dallas, Tex.: SIL International. Online available:www.ethnologue.com.
- UNESCO. World Data on Education, Sixth edition, 2006/07. Online available:www.ibe.unesco.org/countries/WDE/2006/index.html
- UNESCO. *The EFA 2000 Assessment: Country Reports*. Online available: www.unesco.org/education/wef/countryreports/home.html
- UNESCO (2007). Strategie de Formation des Enseignants en Enseignement Bilingue Additif pour les Pays du Sahel. Online available: unesdoc.unesco.org
- UNESCO (2007). Mother Tongue-based Literacy Programmes; Case Studies of Good Practice in Asia. Bangkok.

Country-specific sources

Benin

- Gaba-Afouda, L. (2003). *Gender equality in education in Benin: summary of case study*. Background paper prepared for the Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2003/4. Online available: http://unesdoc.unesco.org
- Gaye, J.G. (2003). *Education for All: the situation in Benin*. Background paper prepared for the Education for All Global Monitoring Report 2003/4 Gender and Education for All: The Leap to Equality, UNESCO. Online available: http://unesdoc.unesco.org
- Tchitchi, T. et al. (2001). *Rapport National sur le Developpement de l'Education Prepare pour le Bie.* Ministere de L'Education Nationale et de la Recherche Scientifique, Institut National pour la Formation et de la Recherche en Education. Online available: www.ibe.unesco.org

Burkina Faso

- Education Encyclopedia. State University. Online available: http://education.stateuniversity.com Ilboudo, P.T. (2003). Pertinence de l'éducation Adaptation des curricula et utilisation des langues africaines: le cas de l'éducation bilingue au Burkina Faso. Association pour le développement de l'éducation en Afrique (ADEA). Online available: http://www.adeanet.org
- Verspoor, A.M. (2005). *The Challenge of Learning: Improving the quality of Basic Education in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Discussion paper prepared for the 2003 ADEA Biennial Meeting. Online available: www.adeanet.org

Cameroon

Trudell, B. (2006). Local Agency in the Development of Minority Languages: Three Language Committees in Northwest Cameroon. *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development, Vol. 27*, No. 3.

Eritrea

- Asfaha, Y.M., Kurvers, J., & Kroon, S. (2006). Literacy Use and Instruction in Multilingual Eritrea. *African Studies Bulletin*, 68.
- Eritrea: A gamut of languages and scripts. Online available: http://www.tilburguniversity.nl/faculties/humanities/mm/highlights/eri/
- Hailemariam, C., Kroon, S., & Walters, J. (2003). Language diversity, policy, and practice in Eritrea. *Journal of Eritrean Studies*, 2(1-2), 77-89.
- Woldemikael, T.M. (2003). Language, education, and public policy in Eritrea. *African Studies Review, Vol.* 46, No. 1, pp. 117-136.

Steve Walter (personal communication, March 11, 2008)

Ethiopia

- Boothe, K. and R. Walker (1997). Mother tongue education in Ethiopia: From policy to implementation = Education en langue maternelle en Ethiopie: De la politique à la mise en oeuvre. *Language problems & language planning, vol. 21*, no. 1, pp. 1-19.
- Heugh, K. et al. (2006). *Final Report Study on Medium of Instruction in Primary Schools in Ethiopia*. Ministry of Education. Online available: www.hsrc.ac.za/research/output
- Honig, B.(1996). Multilingual Educational Reform and Teacher Training in Ethiopia. *Language and Education*, Vol. 10, No. 1.

Ghana

- Andoh-Kumi, K. (1999). *Qualitative Research from a University/Ministry Partnership: Informing School Language Policy Decisions*. University of Ghana, Legon, Ghana, A paper presented to the annual conference of the Comparative International Education Society, San Antonio, Texas March 8, 1999.
- Owu-Ewie, C. (2006). The Language Policy of Education in Ghana: A Critical Look at the English-Only Language Policy of Education, Selected Proceedings of the 35th Annual Conference on African Linguistics, ed. John Mugane et al., 76-85. Somerville, MA: Cascadilla Proceedings Project. Online available: www.lingref.com

Guatemala

- International Conference on Education, 47th session, Geneva, 8-11 September 2004. *Quality education for all young people: Challenges, trends and priorities*. Country report for Guatemala. Online available: www.ibe.unesco.org
- Dutcher, N. *Promise and perils of mother tongue education*. Online available: www.sil.org/asia **Guinea**
- Yerendé, E. (2005). 'Ideologies of Language and Schooling in Guinea-Conakry, A Postcolonial Experience', in: Brock-Utne, B. and R.K. Hopson (2005), *Languages of Instruction for African Emancipation: Focus on Postcolonial Contexts and Considerations*. Dar es Salaam: Mkuki na Nyota Publishers.

Kenva

- East Africa Living Encyclopedia, Kenya Languages, African Studies Center. Online available: www.africa.upenn.edu
- Muthwii, M.J. (2004). Language of Instruction: A Qualitative Analysis of the Perceptions of Parents, Pupils and Teachers Among the Kalenjin in Kenya, Language. *Culture and Curriculum*, Vol. 17, No. 1.
- Okombo, O. And C. M. Rubgumya. *Languages of Instruction and Language Policies a Synthesis of Research*. ADEA. Online available: www.adeanet.org/newsletter

Mali

Fomba, C.O. et al. (2003). La pédagogie convergente comme facteur d'amélioration de la qualité de l'éducation de base au Mali: analyse du développement de l'innovation et perspectives.

ADEA. Online available: www.adeanet.org/publications_biennale/docs/Countrycases

International Conference on Education, 47th session, Geneva, 8-11 September 2004. *Quality education for all young people: Challenges, trends and priorities*. Country report for Mali. Online available: www.ibe.unesco.org

Mozambique

- Benson, C.J. (2001). Final Report on Multilangual Education, Results of the External Evaluation of the Experiment in Bilingual Schooling in Mozambique (PEBIMO), and some Results from Bilingual Adult Literacy Experimentation. Online available: www.sida.se
- Benson, C.J. (2003). Bilingual Schooling in Mozambique and Bolivia: From Experimentation to Implementation. Online available: www.springerlink.com
- Matsinhe, S.F. (2005). 'The Language Situation in Mozambique, Current Developments and Prospects', in: Brock-Utne, B. and R.K. Hopson (2005), *Languages of Instruction for African Emancipation: Focus on Postcolonial Contexts and Considerations*. Dar es Salaam: Mkuki na Nyota Publishers.

Namibia

- Hopson, R.K. (2005). 'The Paradox of English Only in Post-Independent Namibia, Toward Whose Education for All?' in: Brock-Utne, B. and R.K. Hopson (2005), *Languages of Instruction for African Emancipation: Focus on Postcolonial Contexts and Considerations*, Dar es Salaam: Mkuki na Nyota Publishers.
- Sociolingo's African Linguistics, Just another WordPress.com weblog, Namibia: Language policy in education in practice. Posted by sociolingo on September 25, 2007, http://sociolingolinguistics.wordpress.com/2007/09/25/namibia-language-policy-in-education-in-practice

Nepal

International Conference on Education, 47th session, Geneva, 8-11 September 2004. *Quality education for all young people: Challenges, trends and priorities.* Country report for Nepal. Online available: www.ibe.unesco.org

Peru

UNESCO. 'Education Today; The Mother-Tongue Dilemma', newsletter no. 6, September 2003. Garcia, M. (2004). Rethinking Bilingual Education in Peru: Intercultural Politics, State Policy and Indigenous Rights. *Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, Vol. 7*, No. 5.

Philippines

National Economic and Development Authority. *Medium-Term Development Plan 2001-2004*. Online available: www.neda.gov.ph

Kosonen, K., C. Young & S. Malone (2007). *Promoting Literacy in Multilingual Settings*. UNESCO, Bangkok. Online available: www2.unescobkk.org/elib/publications/100/.

South Africa

- Granville, S. et al. (1998). English With or Without G(u)ilt: A Position Paper on Language in Education Policy for South Africa. *Language and Education*, Vol. 12, No. 4.
- Kamwangamalu, N.M. (2000). *Language policy and mother-tongue education in South Africa: The case for a market-oriented approach*. University of Natal, South Africa. Georgetown University Round Table on Languages and Linguistics 2000.
- Makalela, L. (2005). 'We Speak Eleven Tongues', Reconstructing Multilingualism in South Africa, in: Brock-Utne, B. and R.K. Hopson (2005), *Languages of Instruction for African Emancipation: Focus on Postcolonial Contexts and Considerations*, Dar es Salaam: Mkuki na Nyota Publishers.
- Mda, Thobeka V (1997). Issues in the making of South Africa's language in education policy. *Journal of Negro Education*.
- Mgqwashu, E.M. *The South African language policy-in-education: realistic or an ideological import?*. Conference Presentation, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Edgewood Campus, Language Education Programme. Online available: www.uwc.ac.za

Tonder, W. van. *Language-in-Education in South Africa: the process*. Online available through: National Education Department Web site, www.und.ac.za

Togo

L'équipe du Trésor de la langue française au Québec, L'aménagement linguistique dans le monde. Available online: www.tlfq.ulaval.ca/axl/afrique/togo.htm

Nyame, J.A. and Y. Nuakey. *Le Systeme Educatif au Togo*,. Centre de Ressources Documentaires. Available online: http://doc-aea.aide-et-action.org

Zimbabwe

International Conference on Education, 47th session, Geneva, 8-11 September 2004. *Quality education for all young people: Challenges, trends and priorities*. Country report for Mali. Online available: www.ibe.unesco.org

The Development of Education National Report of Zimbabwe by The Ministries of Education, Sport and Culture and Higher and Tertiary Education, Presentation at the International Conference on Education, 47th session, Geneva, 8-11 September 2004. Available online: www.ibe.unesco.org

Thondhlana, J. *Using Indigenous Languages for Teaching and Learning in Zimbabwe.*, Available online: http://jan.ucc.nau.edu/~jar/ILAC/ILAC_4.pdf

Table B1. Characteristics of linguistic groups brought together from the country profiles in Part C.

				Att	ainment	Non-a	attendance	N	lon-attenda	nce odds ra	tios
				Pero	centages	Pero	centages	Unac	djusted	Ad	justed
Country	Language	N	%	None	> primary	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16
Armenia	Armenian	11892	98.5	0.2	45.9	1.8	7.5				
	Other native	96	0.8	1.1	46.3						
	Russian	81	0.7	0.0	42.0						
Benin	Fon	5218	44.4	51.8	16.9	35.7	46.9	0.64	0.76	0.80	0.92
	Bariba	1201	10.2	78.3	9.2	53.6	66.8	0.92	0.49	0.79	0.33
	Aja	1164	9.9	59.9	15.2	42.8	35.6	1.44	1.90	1.33	1.79
	Dendi	620	5.3	70.2	10.4	44.6	49.7	0.93	0.80	0.96	0.92
	Yoruba	478	4.1	60.6	11.9	37.3	60.1	2.69	2.33	1.50	1.20
	Ditammari	410	3.5	84.1	1.7	68.2	72.6	0.75	1.60	0.77	1.72
	Other native	573	4.9	84.9	6.0	62.6	65.8	2.10	1.74	1.32	1.26
	French	2101	17.9	24.5	50.0	24.3	32.1	0.30	0.27	0.81	0.76
Bolivia	Quechua	7582	21.3	12.1	47.2	7.0	18.0	1.00	2.37	0.80	1.49
	Aymara	4817	13.5	4.2	60.8	7.1	4.5	1.01	0.51	1.01	0.50
	Guaraní	189	0.5	8.4	47.9	9.5	9.1				
	Other native	80	0.2	16.7	53.8						
	Spanish	22641	63.7	1.4	51.8	7.0	7.1	0.99	0.82	1.23	1.35
	Foreign	258	0.7	0.4	52.7	5.7					
Burkina	Mòoré	12350	58.7	81.3	9.1	68.0	76.3	1.32	1.37	0.98	1.00
-	Jula	3222	15.3	72.3	14.8	60.9	71.6	0.96	1.16	0.90	1.20
	Fulfulde	860	4.1	94.1	3.0	82.4	87.2				
	Other native	2551	12.1	91.1	4.0	82.9	87.1	2.93	2.89	1.46	1.39
	French	2049	9.7	23.3	39.2	28.9	40.3	0.27	0.22	0.78	0.60
Cameroon	Fulfulde	4679	26.6	60.2	19.9	43.7	44.6	7.06	3.51	3.92	2.33
	Pidgin	2341	13.3	7.9	52.8	5.5	12.7	0.52	0.67	0.53	0.66
	Ewondo	114	0.6	1.7	56.0	11.7	16.4				
	Other	391	2.2	22.4	45.2						
	French	9233	52.4	2.9	52.2	3.1	10.2	0.27	0.43	0.48	0.66
	English	861	4.9	4.7	42.9	2.8	13.8				
Eritrea	Tigrigna	11282	64.1	23.5	42.6	20.7	14.1	0.27	0.26	0.38	0.36
	Tigré	3778	21.5	70.9	12.7	61.0	42.7	1.58	1.18	1.37	1.01
	Saho	530	3.0	61.9	19.2	47.8	49.3	0.97	1.47	0.96	1.32
	Bilen	417	2.4	43.2	27.3	38.0	16.8				
	Afar	424	2.4	79.3	9.5	59.9	51.1	1.59	1.60	1.50	1.68
	Hedarib (Tobedawi)	386	2.2	95.1	0.0	86.1	84.0				
	Nara	357	2.0	78.4	10.1	68.0	53.1				
	Kunama	268	1.5	50.9	27.1	57.0	50.0				
	Arabic	85	0.5	79.8	6.0	75.5	69.8				
	Other native	81	0.5	18.5	48.1			1.51	1.40	1.33	1.23
Ethiopia	Oromigna	8749	32.2	54.7	20.1	61.1	38.7	1.11	0.91	1.09	0.89
•	Amharic	9209	33.9	56.1	21.6	48.7	36.1	0.67	0.72	0.73	0.83
	Tigrigna	1719	6.3	53.6	22.4	47.7	42.9	0.66	1.16	0.58	1.02
	Other native	7478	27.5	57.1	19.3	73.5	46.1	2.02	1.32	2.17	1.33

Table B1 continued. Characteristics of linguistic groups brought together from the country profiles in Part C.

					ttainment ercentages		attendance centages		Non-attendan adjusted		ios djusted
Country	Language	N	%	None	> primary	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16
Ghana	Akan	5050	48.4	10.2	47.1	21.3	16.5	0.56	0.49	0.86	0.70
	Éwée	1330	12.7	14.4	48.8	28.0	15.9	0.82	0.58	1.00	0.67
	Dagbani	716	6.9	62.8	22.5	43.0	43.1	1.49	2.08	1.06	1.54
	Ga	579	5.5	14.6	40.0	24.0	15.8				
	Nzema	126	1.2	15.0	52.0	22.5	9.5				
	Other native	2636	25.2	50.5	27.8	44.4	40.3	1.46	1.68	1.10	1.38
	English	4	0.0								
Guatemala	K'iche'	788	6.3	44.3	27.7	19.4	52.1	0.89	1.32	0.84	1.22
	Kaqchikel	714	5.7	36.9	28.5	32.2	44.8	1.63	1.08	1.51	1.06
	Q'eqchi'	630	5.0	51.6	16.9	26.6	40.5	1.28	0.92	0.90	0.58
	Mam	422	3.4	36.4	29.5	24.0	44.7				
	Kanjobal	170	1.4	43.5	25.9	19.8	53.9				
	Tz'utujil	91	0.7	53.8	17.6						
	Poqomchi'	86	0.7	32.2	36.8						
	Other native	209	1.7	45.1	28.2	15.7	45.6	0.97	1.19	0.91	1.01
	Spanish	9395	75.1	14.3	45.4	12.6	34.6	0.55	0.64	0.97	1.32
Guinea	Pular	3879	33.9	77.4	12.0	77.0	73.2	1.20	1.15	1.03	1.03
	Maninka	3255	28.4	76.8	13.4	76.6	68.8	1.28	1.01	1.37	1.13
	Susu	2483	21.7	56.5	25.4	61.3	56.9	0.60	0.60	1.06	0.88
	Guerze	876	7.7	64.4	20.6	95.2	91.1				
	Kissi	636	5.6	61.2	20.3	49.4	62.9	0.37	0.73	0.24	0.49
	Toma	262	2.3	66.4	16.0	61.2	45.5				
	Other native	3	0.0					2.95	1.97	2.77	2.01
	French	39	0.3						,		
	English	9	0.1								
India	Hindi	87091	40.8	41.8	36.5	20.1	37.5	2.05	1.26	1.72	1.10
	Bengali	18580	8.7	30.1	38.6	14.3	36.8	1.23	1.13	0.81	0.77
	Telugu	18667	8.7	42.2	33.8	15.3	45.9	1.37	1.65	1.05	1.41
	Marathi	16165	7.6	23.8	43.9	5.5	23.9	0.41	0.61	0.42	0.69
	Tamil	13786	6.5	22.0	44.6	5.1	27.5	0.39	0.78	0.45	0.81
	Gujarati	10219	4.8	26.8	41.2	15.6	40.9	1.49	1.47	2.31	2.20
	Oriya	7923	3.7	36.7	37.1	15.5	36.0	1.49	1.19	0.86	0.71
	Kannada	7719	3.6	36.0	36.6	13.1	37.5	1.16	1.19	0.90	1.03
	Malayalam	7906	3.7	5.1	47.0	1.0	10.0		/		00
	Punjabi	5644	2.6	23.9	43.4	4.6	18.7	0.38	0.50	1.11	1.04
	Urdu	4569	2.1	35.4	36.5	18.1	43.8	1.70	1.64	2.01	2.08
	Assamese	3203	1.5	28.8	38.6	11.5	26.9	0.98	0.69	0.82	0.59
	Kashmiri	1148	0.5	42.1	37.1	12.2	32.0	0.70	0.07	0.02	0.07
	Konkani	700	0.3	26.1	35.8	21.0	27.6				
	Nepali	536	0.3	26.6	38.9	8.0	24.2				
	Manipuri	332	0.2	16.2	47.7	6.9	20.5				
	Sindhi	316	0.1	9.8	47.6	2.9	8.5				
	Other	8832	4.1	42.3	32.7	19.0	40.1	1.12	0.76	1.11	0.72
	English	66	0.0	31.8	37.9	17.0	10.1	1.12	0.70	1.11	0.12
Kazakhstan	Kazakh	3928	43.1	0.4	47.4	8.7	1.6				
razanistali	Other native	262	2.9	0.4	46.9	8.5	10.0				
	Strict Hattive	202	2.7	0.0	10.7	0.5	10.0				

Table B1 continued. Characteristics of linguistic groups brought together from the country profiles in Part C.

					ttainment		n-attendance		Non-attenda		
_					ercentages		ercentages		adjusted		djusted
Country	Language	N	%	None	> primary	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16
Kenya	Gikuyu	2990	21.9	2.2	51.8	1.5	7.6				
	Luyia	2019	14.8	7.1	51.2	3.7	7.2				
	Luo	1631	11.9	4.9	55.2	1.1	11.5				
	Kamba	1493	10.9	3.8	55.8	2.7	5.7				
	Kalenjin	1506	11.0	7.6	50.3	7.1	8.1				
	Gusii	812	5.9	2.7	57.0	0.9	5.7				
	Meru	718	5.3	7.0	48.4	1.7	12.6				
	Mijikenda	562	4.1	29.1	38.4	14.2	22.6				
	Somali	433	3.2	77.4	10.7	51.0	58.4				
	Maasai	252	1.8	60.8	19.6	30.0	37.4				
	Embu	168	1.2	4.8	41.7						
	Swahili	126	0.9	17.5	41.3	7.3					
	Other native	917	6.7	34.1	34.0	23.3	31.7				
	English	24	0.2								
Kyrgyz Rep.	Kirghiz	5520	78.4	0.4	48.7	3.8	8.0				
	Russian	1519	21.6	0.2	43.3	2.1	9.1				
Mali	Bamanankan	18873	86.1	74.5	14.1	57.9	64.1	0.75	0.71	0.77	0.84
	Songhay	833	3.8	72.3	17.2	58.2	65.3	0.65	0.76	0.83	0.89
	Fulfulde	720	3.3	92.6	3.6	83.9	89.5				
	Dogon	645	2.9	87.8	6.5	72.3	75.4				
	Soninke	255	1.2	91.8	2.7	88.3	93.8				
	Bobo Madaré	87	0.4	73.6	17.2						
	Tamajaq	34	0.2								
	Minianka	10	0.0								
	Senoufo	2	0.0								
	Other native	59	0.3	94.4	2.8	72.4	63.6	2.05	1.87	1.55	1.34
	French	407	1.9	27.7	39.0	23.7	43.6	2.03	1.07	1.55	1.54
Mozambique	Makhuwa	5631	26.3	37.9	30.6	47.4	33.1	1.85	1.43	1.59	1.30
Mozamorque	Tsonga	2839	13.3	17.8	49.5	13.1	20.9	0.27	0.64	0.43	1.01
	Sena	1374	6.4	40.5	25.9	36.5	28.3	1.26	1.28	1.04	1.11
	Lomwe	1411	6.6	44.9	25.2	50.1	26.7	2.20	1.28	1.46	0.75
	Chitswa	1284	6.0	28.4	42.6	20.1	23.1	0.50	0.63	0.52	0.64
	Chichewa	996	4.7	47.9	24.2	56.1	52.1	2.72	3.41	2.08	2.75
	Nhungue	838	3.9	27.9	37.9	36.4	28.0	1.23	1.23	1.26	1.12
	Ndau	810	3.8	38.0	27.2	33.3	22.9	1.01	0.75	0.86	0.65
	Chuwabo	752	3.5	34.1	32.6	38.8	34.3	1.24	1.45	1.02	1.22
	Chope	408	1.9	15.0	52.1	9.9	15.4				
	Jaua	359	1.7	53.9	23.0	71.9	55.2				
	Tonga	388	1.8	13.0	53.1	10.7	15.3				
	Naconde	373	1.7	34.2	31.7	26.8	22.5				
	Ronga	372	1.7	7.3	55.0	7.0	5.9				
	Tewe	266	1.2	20.7	43.6	21.0	16.3				
	Chibarue	204	1.0	24.4	42.4	39.4	23.1				
	Shona	129	0.6	20.0	42.4	26.0	17.6				
	Chigorogonza	127	0.6	38.4	30.4						
	Nhanja	105	0.5	35.8	32.1						
	Kimuani	110	0.5	47.1	23.1						
	Chimanica	81	0.4	11.1	50.6						
	Koti	62	0.3	13.3	46.7						
	Suaili	39	0.2								
	Chitewe	32	0.1								
	Kikakwe	28	0.1								
	Kikakwe Other native	28 661	0.1 3.1	45.9	23.3	37.2	34.0	0.90	1.09	0.95	1.08

Table B1 continued. Characteristics of linguistic groups brought together from the country profiles in Part C.

				At	tainment	Non-	attendance		Non-attenda	ınce odds r	ratios
					rcentages		centages		adjusted		djusted
Country	Language	N	%	None	> primary	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16
Namibia	Kwanyama	5320	47.0	9.0	39.9	8.4	7.1	0.52	0.35	0.41	0.26
	Nama	1767	15.6	13.7	44.8	13.0	20.8	1.05	1.80	1.60	3.17
	Herero	1119	9.9	18.0	38.7	20.5	18.9				
	Kwangali	612	5.4	13.2	49.0	14.4	15.3				
	Lozi	201	1.8	5.0	53.7	22.9	16.1				
	Other native	1015	9.0	20.8	42.0	27.1	23.8	1.84	1.57	1.52	1.22
	Afrikaans	1208	10.7	1.7	43.3	3.6	4.5				
	English	82	0.7	0.0	39.5						
Nepal	Nepali	7266	39.4	29.9	37.7	3.4	14.3	0.25	0.37	0.22	0.37
	Maithili	2357	12.8	58.7	24.3	22.5	42.8	2.35	1.98	2.36	1.97
	Tharu	2137	11.6	49.7	27.9	5.0	16.1				
	Bhojpuri	915	5.0	51.6	26.7	23.3	45.1	2.36	2.14	2.94	2.48
	Other native	5749	31.2	39.3	31.9	9.1	21.1	0.71	0.63	0.65	0.56
Nigeria	Hausa	3886	26.0	64.7	20.7	52.9	54.2	2.13	1.97	1.83	1.81
<i>9</i> · · ·	Yoruba	1689	11.3	9.2	49.8	5.9	9.7		•		
	Igbo	1691	11.3	6.2	45.9	7.0	6.5				
	Other native	7480	50.1	29.3	41.0	25.4	26.5	0.47	0.51	0.55	0.55
	English	195	1.3	5.7	48.5	2.4	20.3	0.77	0.01	0.55	0.55
Peru	Quechua	4314	8.1	15.3	50.5	5.3	15.1	1.47	1.19	1.08	0.72
ıcıu	Aymara	4314	0.9	6.1	63.3	3.1	11.1	1.4/	1.19	1.08	0.72
	Other native	173	0.9	11.0	57.6	8.3	21.3				
								0.60	0.04	0.02	1.40
	Spanish	48364	90.6	2.5	50.2	2.7	12.0	0.68	0.84	0.93	1.40
	Foreign language	43	0.1	7.0	44.2		100				
Philippines	Tagalog	12072	41.8	0.7	48.7	3.4	13.8	0.70	0.75	1.18	1.16
	Cebuano	7579	26.2	1.7	46.0	5.3	19.4	1.07	1.16	0.82	0.91
	Hiligaynon	2083	7.2	1.7	45.8	4.3	18.3				
	Ilocano	2147	7.4	1.2	47.6	3.1	12.6				
	Bicolano	1245	4.3	0.6	48.8	3.6	15.9				
	Aklanon	860	3.0	8.4	43.0	14.2	24.2				
	Waray-Waray	829	2.9	2.3	43.0	6.4	20.0				
	Pampangan	559	1.9	0.7	55.5	2.1	17.2				
	Tausug	421	1.5	14.9	39.6	12.2	23.6				
	Maguindanao	250	0.9	19.8	37.5	25.3	36.6				
	Pangasinan	284	1.0	1.4	47.9	3.0	7.9				
	Maranao	164	0.6	6.7	42.7	15.8	33.3				
	Chavacano	150	0.5	0.0	45.9						
	Kinaray-A	85	0.3	0.0	50.6						
	Surigaonon	75	0.3	1.4	40.5						
	Cuyono	61	0.2	1.7	45.0						
	Kankanaey	29	0.1								
	Other native					2.4	12.2	1.34	1.15	1.04	0.94
	English	7	0.0			-	•	•	-		
South Africa	Zulu	4691	24.1	10.1	43.2	7.4	6.1	1.66	1.39	1.60	1.32
	Xhosa	2892	14.9	4.9	41.3	3.6	5.1	1.00	1.07	1.00	1.52
	swana	2172	11.2	6.0	42.4	4.1	3.5				
	SePedi	1704	8.8	9.2	40.1	3.6	2.5				
	SeSotho		8.7		43.1		2.3				
		1691 487		4.1		3.6					
	Tsonga	487	2.5	13.7	43.7	3.2	2.8				
	Swati	380	2.0	9.7	39.7	3.8	3.0				
	Venda	340	1.7	4.7	45.4	0.9	0.8				
	Ndebele	182	0.9	9.3	35.7	0.0	1.9				
	Other native							0.60	0.72	0.62	0.76
	Afrikaans	2818	14.5	2.8	44.2	2.3	5.8				
	English	2097	10.8	1.0	44.5	1.3	3.8				

Table B1 continued. Characteristics of linguistic groups brought together from the country profiles in Part C.

				Attainment Percentages		Non-at	tendance	N	Von-attendar	nce odds ra	tios
				Percentages		Perc	entages	Una	djusted	Ad	justed
Country	Language	N	%	None	> primary	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16	7-11	12-16
Togo	Éwé	7907	50.1	34.8	36.6	22.0	24.9	0.68	0.64	0.83	0.70
	Tem	1170	7.4	57.1	25.7	29.5	33.8	1.05	1.09	0.99	1.14
	Moba	1076	6.8	74.6	10.4	44.2	58.0	1.90	2.96	1.16	1.86
	Kabiyé	951	6.0	30.1	44.1	22.6	17.7	0.68	0.46	0.70	0.44
	Other native	999	6.3	60.3	20.8	46.3	52.8	2.32	2.62	1.67	2.28
	French	3667	23.3	20.1	49.9	18.1	21.5	0.46	0.40	0.91	0.67
Turkey	Turkish	12511	80.3	6.5	55.1	6.5	38.8	0.31	0.43	0.45	0.58
	Kurdish	2477	15.9	32.2	37.6	35.9	63.2	2.46	1.17	1.86	0.94
	Arabic	351	2.3	22.6	41.1	23.1	74.2	1.32	1.98	1.20	1.82
	Other	245	1.6	8.2	54.7		37.0				
Zambia	Bemba	3376	24.1	5.1	54.8	32.1	23.1	0.87	0.72	1.23	0.91
	Tonga	1887	13.5	7.6	50.2	32.0	24.5	0.89	0.78	0.77	0.72
	Nyanja	1399	10.0	18.0	45.2	44.9	34.2	1.65	1.30	1.45	1.20
	Lozi	828	5.9	5.9	51.1	28.1	32.2	0.77	1.30	0.66	1.13
	Lunda	379	2.7	10.3	52.0	27.5	19.8				
	Kaonde	344	2.5	7.6	53.8	25.0	18.8				
	Luvale	234	1.7	14.0	52.5	33.7	24.2				
	Other native	5481	39.2	10.9	50.8	37.1	30.5	1.03	1.06	1.11	1.12
	English	54	0.4	9.1	61.8						
Zimbabwe	Shona	9306	80.8	5.7	53.1	9.1	16.4				
	Ndebele	1843	16.0	4.0	50.6	4.6	18.1				
	Other native	37	0.3								
	English	326	2.8	1.5	48.6	0.0	5.4				

PART C. COUNTRY PROFILES

C1. Country profiles

Country profile Armenia^{1,2}

Official languages: Armenian

Leading languages in daily life (max. 3): Armenian, Azerbaijani, Russian.

Language of instruction in primary: Armenian Language of instruction in secondary: Armenian

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, women's survey.

Language variable: native language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Languaga	1C OF	26.25	26.40	Total	N.I.
Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Armenian	98.5	98.7	98.5	98.5	11892
Other native	1.0	1.0	0.6	0.8	96
Russian	0.6	0.3	1.0	0.7	81
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	12069

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	⁄len			Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Armenian	0.2	0.3	99.4	100	0.1	0.2	99.7	100	0.2	0.3	99.6	100
Other native	2.3	4.5	93.2	100	0.0	5.9	94.1	100	1.1	5.3	93.7	100
Russian					0.0	0.0	100.0	100	0.0	0.0	100.0	100
Total	0.3	0.4	99.4	100	0.1	0.2	99.6	100	0.2	0.3	99.5	100
N	14	20	5523	5557	9	16	6484	6509	23	36	12007	12066

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16			
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	
Armenian	1.8	2.7	2.2	5.2	7.9	6.4	1.4	2.3	1.8	6.2	9.3	7.5	
Total	1.8	2.9	2.3	5.4	8.2	6.6	1.4	2.4	1.9	6.4	9.5	7.7	
N	913	840	1754	1639	1287	2925	1171	1035	2206	1383	1091	2472	

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

Country profile Benin^{1,3,4}

Official languages: French

Leading languages in daily life (max. 3): Fon, Yoruba, Aja. Language of instruction in primary: French

Language of instruction in secondary: French

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2001, household survey.

Language variable: language of the interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Fon	43.9	45.1	44.2	44.4	5218
Bariba	10.7	9.7	10.1	10.2	1201
Aja	9.7	10.2	9.9	9.9	1164
Dendi	5.1	5.9	4.7	5.3	620
Yoruba	4.3	3.9	3.9	4.1	478
Ditammari	3.2	3.9	3.4	3.5	410
Other native	4.7	4.6	5.4	4.9	573
French	18.4	16.7	18.4	17.9	2101
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	11765

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	men			Т	otal	
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Fon	34.8	40.4	24.9	100	65.1	24.1	10.7	100	51.8	31.3	16.9	100
Bariba	67.5	18.5	14.0	100	87.3	7.4	5.2	100	78.3	12.4	9.2	100
Aja	38.0	36.2	25.8	100	76.6	16.2	7.3	100	59.9	24.8	15.2	100
Dendi	59.9	23.3	16.7	100	79.2	15.9	4.9	100	70.2	19.4	10.4	100
Yoruba	45.0	35.4	19.6	100	72.8	21.3	6.0	100	60.6	27.5	11.9	100
Ditammari	72.5	23.8	3.7	100	94.1	5.9	0.0	100	84.1	14.2	1.7	100
Other native	80.4	11.4	8.1	100	88.9	7.0	4.0	100	84.9	9.1	6.0	100
French	10.7	25.0	64.3	100	38.0	26.0	36.1	100	24.5	25.5	50.0	100
Total	39.2	31.5	29.3	100	67.2	20.0	12.8	100	54.5	25.2	20.3	100
N	2075	1670	1549	5294	4290	1274	819	6383	6365	2944	2368	11677

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	Secondary			7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Fon	29.1	46.3	41.1	44.5	57.7	52.9	24.4	40.6	35.7	37.5	51.8	46.9
Bariba	46.9	63.7	59.6	56.4	79.2	71.7	40.1	58.2	53.6	49.1	75.1	66.8
Aja	35.5	51.7	48.5	46.7	40.6	41.8	31.0	45.6	42.8	43.4	33.8	35.6
Dendi	42.0	55.6	48.9	53.7	61.4	56.8	35.8	52.7	44.6	46.9	54.3	49.7
Yoruba	40.0	49.7	46.9	60.8	67.3	65.2	35.0	37.9	37.3	55.6	62.2	60.1
Ditammari	57.7	75.9	72.3		80.8	75.5	55.0	71.3	68.2		78.6	72.6
Other native	66.2	68.5	68.0	59.7	76.3	70.8	61.0	63.3	62.6	54.2	71.8	65.8
French	21.0	37.1	28.1	31.0	43.2	34.7	17.7	32.7	24.3	28.5	39.9	32.1
Total	33.2	52.1	46.0	43.5	59.1	52.8	28.4	46.4	40.6	38.2	53.8	47.7
N	1863	3949	5813	1877	2753	4630	1537	3230	4769	1360	2148	3511

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

Unadjusted Odds Ratio Adjusted Odds Ratio Primary Secondary 12-16 Primary Secondary Language 7-11 7-11 12-16 Fon 0.63* 0.81* 0.64* 0.76* 0.78* 1.02 0.80* 0.92 Aja 1.45* 1.89* 1.44* 1.90* 1.31* 1.79* 1.33* 1.79* Bariba 0.51* 0.49* 0.80* 0.37* 0.79* 0.33* 0.91 0.92 Dendi 0.90 0.85 0.93 0.80 0.94 0.96 0.96 0.92 Ditammari 1.55* 1.60* 0.85 0.75 0.88 1.56* 0.77 1.72* Yoruba 2.20* 2.33* 2.49* 2.69* 1.45* 1.13 1.50* 1.20 Other native 2.06* 1.66* 2.10* 1.74* 1.35* 1.27 1.32* 1.26 French 0.31* 0.27* 0.30* 0.27* 0.75* 0.68* 0.81 0.76

10.4

23.6

8.9

10.3

Pseudo R²

8.8

25.9

30.0

26.7

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Bolivia^{1,5}

Official languages: Spanish, Quechua, Aymara.

Leading languages in daily life (max. 3): Spanish, Quechua, Aymara.

Language of instruction in primary: Spanish Language of instruction in secondary: Spanish

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, household survey.

Language variable: childhood language.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Quechua	17.5	21.5	26.0	21.3	7582
Aymara	8.4	14.0	19.6	13.5	4817
Guaraní	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.5	189
Other native	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	80
Spanish	72.6	63.0	53.0	63.7	22641
Foreign	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.7	258
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	35567

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Ŋ	Лen			W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Quechua	3.3	71.4	25.3	100	20.2	67.3	12.5	100	12.1	69.3	18.7	100
Aymara	1.0	50.5	48.5	100	7.3	72.6	20.1	100	4.2	61.8	34.1	100
Guaraní	2.0	63.7	34.3	100	15.9	63.6	20.5	100	8.4	63.7	27.9	100
Other native									16.7	55.1	28.2	100
Spanish	0.7	27.6	71.6	100	1.9	32.8	65.3	100	1.4	30.3	68.4	100
Foreign	0.9	66.7	32.5	100	0.0	69.0	31.0	100	0.4	68.0	31.6	100
Total	1.3	40.4	58.3	100	6.7	46.1	47.2	100	4.1	43.3	52.6	100
N	230	6973	10059	17262	1211	8341	8545	18097	1441	15314	18604	35359

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary		7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Quechua	16.5	15.1	15.5	6.5	27.1	20.2	7.8	6.7	7.0	4.1	24.5	18.0
Aymara	14.4	16.6	15.4	5.7	8.3	6.7	5.0	9.8	7.1	3.1	6.4	4.5
Guaraní		16.9	17.5		13.3	11.7		8.2	9.5		11.4	9.1
Spanish	18.1	16.7	17.7	5.1	20.9	8.7	6.5	8.3	7.0	3.5	18.5	7.1
Foreign		15.2	14.7		87.8	88.2		5.9	5.7			
Total	17.1	16.0	16.6	5.5	21.7	12.0	6.4	7.9	7.1	3.5	19.2	10.1
N	5724	4646	10372	4996	3365	8357	4740	3839	8580	4217	3010	7230

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	
Quechua	0.95	2.10*	1.00	2.37*	0.88*	1.41*	0.80*	1.49*	
Aymara	0.94	0.60*	1.01	0.51*	0.94	0.58*	1.01	0.50*	
Spanish	1.12*	0.79*	0.99	0.82*	1.20*	1.23*	1.23*	1.35*	
Pseudo R ²	0.2	5.4	0.0	6.6	2.4	19.9	6.1	23.9	

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Burkina Faso^{1,3,4}

Official language: French

Leading languages in daily life (max. 3): Mòoré, Fulfulde, Jula. Language of instruction in primary: French

Language of instruction in primary: French Language of instruction in secondary: French

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, women's survey.

Language variable: language of interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Mòoré	58.6	57.5	60.0	58.7	12350
Jula	15.0	13.8	17.3	15.3	3222
Fulfulde	3.6	4.8	4.1	4.1	860
Other native	11.1	14.3	11.5	12.1	2551
French	11.6	9.6	7.1	9.7	2049
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	21032

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Mòoré	72.9	17.8	9.3	100	87.4	8.9	3.7	100	81.3	12.6	6.0	100
Jula	63.1	20.7	16.3	100	79.6	13.6	6.8	100	72.3	16.7	11.0	100
Fulfulde	92.8	5.2	2.1	100	95.1	3.8	1.1	100	94.1	4.4	1.5	100
Other native	85.5	11.5	3.0	100	95.3	4.7	0.1	100	91.1	7.6	1.3	100
French	23.4	18.8	57.8	100	23.2	24.5	52.3	100	23.3	22.0	54.7	100
Total	68.7	17.1	14.2	100	81.4	10.4	8.2	100	76.0	13.2	10.8	100
N	6147	1526	1270	8943	9810	1249	990	12049	15957	2775	2260	20992

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Mòoré	27.3	74.1	68.5	56.5	87.3	82.6	25.9	73.8	68.0	43.3	81.4	76.3
Jula	22.7	70.8	62.1	53.5	87.8	78.3	21.6	69.4	60.9	38.1	82.0	71.6
Fulfulde		82.2	81.1		93.9	92.9		83.5	82.4		88.2	87.2
Other native		83.4	83.0		91.5	91.1		83.3	82.9		87.6	87.1
French	6.6	63.8	29.4	39.7	72.3	46.5	5.3	64.9	28.9	32.2	64.0	40.3
Total	21.8	75.1	67.8	49.7	87.8	79.6	20.7	74.8	67.5	38.5	82.2	74.1
N	1381	8715	10093	1822	6609	8431	1152	7356	8507	1287	5642	6929

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio				
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	
Mòoré	1.32*	1.38*	1.32*	1.37*	0.98	1.04	0.98	1.00	
Jula	1.00	1.20*	0.96	1.16*	0.95	1.27*	0.90	1.20*	
Other native	2.86*	3.06*	2.93*	2.89*	1.43*	1.34*	1.46*	1.39*	
French	0.26*	0.20*	0.27*	0.22*	0.75*	0.56*	0.78*	0.60*	
Pseudo R ²	6.6	11.1	6.8	8.6	28.8	28.5	29.1	28.2	

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Cameroon^{1,6}

Official languages: French, English.

Leading languages in daily life: Fulfulde, Pidgin, Ewondo. Languages of instruction in primary: French, English. Languages of instruction in secondary: French, English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2004, women's survey.

Language variable: language of interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Fulfulde	26.2	27.8	25.8	26.6	4679
Pidgin	12.4	14.6	13.4	13.3	2341
Ewondo	0.5	0.7	0.9	0.6	114
Other	2.1	2.0	2.7	2.2	391
French	53.1	50.7	53.0	52.4	9233
English	5.6	4.3	4.2	4.9	861
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	17619

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	1en		Women				Total				
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	
Fulfulde	41.6	43.3	15.1	100	73.8	23.4	2.7	100	60.2	31.8	7.9	100	
Pidgin	2.4	62.0	35.5	100	11.6	64.5	24.0	100	7.9	63.5	28.6	100	
Ewondo	1.9	37.7	60.4	100	1.6	52.4	46.0	100	1.7	45.7	52.6	100	
Other	8.3	46.5	45.2	100	31.9	45.3	22.8	100	22.4	45.8	31.9	100	
French	1.7	30.3	68.1	100	3.9	40.4	55.7	100	2.9	36.1	61.0	100	
English	2.0	39.2	58.8	100	6.5	31.9	61.6	100	4.7	34.9	60.4	100	
Total	12.6	38.6	48.8	100	24.3	39.0	36.8	100	19.3	38.8	41.8	100	
N	929	2852	3603	7384	2461	3954	3728	10143	3390	6806	7331	17527	

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary			7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Fulfulde	36.2	54.3	49.8	44.2	54.4	51.4	31.3	47.9	43.7	35.1	48.2	44.6
Pidgin	3.7	9.2	7.3	18.9	21.9	20.8	2.2	7.2	5.5	12.6	12.7	12.7
Other		19.5	17.8	16.7	25.4	24.0		13.0	11.7		17.6	16.4
French	3.3	6.6	4.5	16.3	20.1	17.4	2.6	3.8	3.1	10.0	10.5	10.2
English	2.1	8.3	3.8	20.9	24.4	22.0	1.9	3.6	2.8	11.0	22.2	13.8
Total	9.6	29.5	20.7	20.9	34.9	27.5	7.9	24.9	17.2	14.1	27.1	20.4
N	3375	4261	7633	3854	3403	7258	2806	3396	6204	2748	2586	5332

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	
Fulfulde	6.57*	2.71*	7.06*	3.51*	3.73*	1.83*	3.92*	2.33*	
Pidgin	0.50*	0.73*	0.52*	0.67*	0.49*	0.70*	0.53*	0.66*	
French	0.31*	0.51*	0.27*	0.43*	0.54*	0.78*	0.48*	0.66*	
Pseudo R ²	37.5	15.0	36.3	21.2	43.8	23.6	42.7	29.4	

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Eritrea^{1,6}

Official languages: Tigrigna, Arabic, English. Leading languages in daily life: Tigrigna, Afar, Arabic. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages.

Language of instruction in secondary: English

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2002, household survey.

Language variable: language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Tigrigna	66.8	62.7	60.9	64.1	11282
Tigré	19.9	22.5	23.0	21.5	3778
Saho	2.9	3.0	3.2	3.0	530
Bilen	2.5	2.0	2.5	2.4	417
Afar	1.9	2.6	3.2	2.4	424
Hedarib (Tobedawi)	1.9	2.7	2.1	2.2	386
Nara	1.9	2.0	2.4	2.0	357
Kunama	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.5	268
Arabic	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.5	85
Other native	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	81
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	17608

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Woi	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Tigrigna	13.1	35.9	51.1	100	33.4	34.6	32.1	100	23.5	35.2	41.3	100
Tigré	59.9	31.5	8.6	100	81.2	16.5	2.3	100	70.9	23.7	5.3	100
· ·					_					-		
Saho	39.2	39.2	21.6	100	79.2	17.4	3.4	100	61.9	26.9	11.2	100
Bilen	29.1	47.8	23.2	100	56.5	31.3	12.1	100	43.2	39.3	17.5	100
Afar	66.3	23.8	10.0	100	87.4	9.2	3.4	100	79.3	14.7	5.9	100
Hedarib (Tobedawi)	90.4	9.6	0.0	100	100.0	0.0	0.0	100	95.1	4.9	0.0	100
Nara	70.9	23.4	5.7	100	85.6	14.4	0.0	100	78.4	18.8	2.8	100
Kunama	43.3	40.0	16.7	100	57.0	35.6	7.4	100	50.9	37.5	11.5	100
Arabic					93.3	6.7	0.0	100	79.8	17.9	2.4	100
Other native					29.5	38.6	31.8	100	18.5	37.0	44.4	100
Total	28.9	34.2	36.9	100	50.3	28.1	21.6	100	40.0	31.1	29.0	100
N	2441	2893	3120	8454	4571	2553	1960	9084	7012	5446	5080	17538

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	/		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Tigrigna	17.8	40.9	32.1	15.7	28.2	22.2	6.3	29.5	20.7	7.8	19.3	14.1
Tigré	46.3	72.7	66.7	21.9	54.1	46.2	38.5	67.8	61.0	18.5	50.8	42.7
Saho	33.3	64.4	56.1		64.3	54.6	25.4	56.6	47.8		58.1	49.3
Bilen	32.8	50.6	45.7	12.7	28.1	22.8	26.8	42.3	38.0	3.3	23.4	16.8
Afar	34.9	74.0	66.1	27.1	66.1	55.7		68.8	59.9	22.5	63.3	51.1
Hedarib (Tobedawi)		88.3	88.3		85.5	85.5		86.0	86.1		84.0	84.0
Nara		79.7	72.4		77.6	62.7		77.0	68.0		72.5	53.1
Kunama	39.0	76.3	63.9	24.4	73.1	54.6		71.9	57.0		67.9	50.0
Arabic		78.9	77.6		70.6	67.9		76.9	75.5		71.4	69.8
Total	24.9	55.3	45.6	16.7	40.8	31.2	14.7	46.9	36.6	9.7	34.4	25.0
N	2644	5693	8339	3146	4771	7920	2171	4632	6801	2244	3632	5877

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

Unadjusted Odds Ratio Adjusted Odds Ratio 12-16 Language Primary Secondary 7-11 Primary Secondary 7-11 12-16 Tigrigna 0.27* 0.30* 0.27* 0.26* 0.38* 0.41* 0.38* 0.36* Tigré 1.58* 1.18* 1.37* 0.98 1.37* 1.58* 1.12 1.01 1.39* 1.47* 1.25 Saho 0.97 0.97 0.96 0.96 1.32 Afar 1.59* 1.56* 1.59* 1.60* 1.50* 1.60* 1.50* 1.68* Other native 1.51* 1.40* 1.51* 1.40* 1.33* 1.25* 1.33* 1.23* Pseudo R^2 20.1 12.9 20.1 15.8 33.5 25.8 33.5 29.9

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Ethiopia 1,3,4,6

Official languages: Amharic

Leading languages in daily life: Amharic, Oromigna, Tigrigna. Language of instruction in primary: Amharic

Languages of instruction in secondary: Amharic, English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2005, household survey.

Language variable: language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Oromigna	32.6	32.5	31.1	32.2	8749
Amharic	34.0	32.4	35.6	33.9	9209
Tigrigna	6.4	6.1	6.4	6.3	1719
Other native	27.0	29.0	26.9	27.5	7478
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	27155

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Oromigna	39.4	44.1	16.6	100	69.7	23.5	6.8	100	54.7	33.7	11.6	100
Amharic	48.4	24.6	27.0	100	63.4	16.5	20.0	100	56.1	20.5	23.4	100
Tigrigna	43.1	30.2	26.7	100	62.7	18.6	18.6	100	53.6	24.0	22.4	100
Other native	40.5	42.6	16.9	100	72.7	21.6	5.7	100	57.1	31.8	11.1	100
Total	43.0	36.2	20.8	100	67.9	20.3	11.8	100	55.8	28.1	16.2	100
N	5686	4794	2751	13231	9426	2813	1634	13873	15112	7607	4385	27104

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		Secondary				7-11		12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Oromigna	18.0	66.4	64.0	13.1	43.6	41.2	16.3	63.5	61.1	9.3	40.9	38.7
Amharic	16.6	56.4	51.1	18.6	46.4	40.0	13.8	54.5	48.7	14.6	42.1	36.1
Tigrigna	5.3	57.4	50.7	11.2	51.6	43.2	5.9	54.9	47.7	10.1	50.6	42.9
Other native	47.7	78.5	76.8	27.4	51.0	49.1	42.2	75.5	73.5	21.3	48.0	46.1
Total	22.7	67.2	63.6	18.3	47.1	43.2	19.7	64.4	60.6	14.3	44.1	40.3
N	779	8933	9710	1866	11916	13783	972	10373	11343	1143	8000	9142

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio						
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16			
Oromigna	1.10*	0.91*	1.11*	0.91*	1.08	0.88*	1.09*	0.89*			
Amharic	0.65*	0.76*	0.67*	0.72*	0.71*	0.88*	0.73*	0.83*			
Tigrigna	0.66*	1.09	0.66*	1.16*	0.57*	0.97	0.58*	1.02			
Other native	2.11*	1.33*	2.02*	1.32*	2.29*	1.33*	2.17*	1.33*			
Pseudo R ²	6.6	1.6	6.0	1.9	18.3	17.5	17.5	19.1			

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Ghana^{1,3,4}

Official languages: English (de facto)

Leading languages in daily life: Akan, Éwé, Ga. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages. Language of instruction in secondary: English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, household survey.

Language variable: home language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Akan	49.1	47.5	48.2	48.4	5050
Éwé	12.8	12.5	12.9	12.7	1330
Dagbani	6.1	7.9	6.7	6.9	716
Ga	5.4	5.4	6.0	5.5	579
Nzema	1.2	1.1	1.3	1.2	126
Other native	25.3	25.6	24.8	25.2	2636
English	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	4
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	10441

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Akan	4.7	12.1	83.2	100	14.5	18.9	66.6	100	10.2	15.9	73.9	100
Éwé	6.7	16.7	76.6	100	20.7	26.0	53.3	100	14.4	21.8	63.8	100
Dagbani	49.3	13.4	37.3	100	76.4	7.6	16.0	100	62.8	10.5	26.7	100
Ga	11.0	11.4	77.6	100	16.9	16.9	66.3	100	14.6	14.8	70.6	100
Nzema	5.9	23.5	70.6	100	21.1	39.5	39.5	100	15.0	33.1	52.0	100
Other native	38.8	17.9	43.3	100	60.7	14.3	25.0	100	50.5	16.0	33.5	100
Total	17.6	14.4	67.9	100	30.6	18.1	51.3	100	24.8	16.5	58.7	100
N	823	673	3171	4667	1761	1042	2948	5751	2584	1715	6119	10418

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Akan	28.4	33.7	31.3	23.0	19.6	21.3	19.2	23.1	21.3	17.0	15.9	16.5
Éwé	24.8	39.0	34.7	14.0	21.6	18.9	17.3	32.8	28.0	11.0	18.8	15.9
Dagbani	34.8	59.7	51.1	27.0	58.7	44.4	23.6	53.9	43.0	24.4	56.6	43.1
Ga	27.4	39.8	33.0	19.4	21.7	20.1	17.5	32.1	24.0	14.4	18.5	15.8
Nzema			36.0			10.9			22.5			9.5
Other native	39.8	54.8	51.0	27.0	48.3	41.0	31.3	48.9	44.4	25.0	47.9	40.3
Total	30.7	44.0	39.1	22.7	31.2	27.4	21.6	35.8	30.5	18.1	28.8	24.2
N	1627	2789	4419	1684	2090	3773	1362	2251	3615	1427	1876	3304

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16		
Akan	0.66*	0.60*	0.56*	0.49*	0.94	0.81*	0.86	0.70*		
Éwé	0.80*	0.61*	0.82	0.58*	0.91	0.71*	1.00	0.67*		
Dagbani	1.42*	1.79*	1.49*	2.08*	1.06	1.36*	1.06	1.54*		
Other native	1.35*	1.52*	1.46*	1.68*	1.09	1.28*	1.10	1.38*		
Pseudo R ²	3.9	6.1	5.8	9.6	11.6	12.6	16.4	18.0		

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Guatemala^{1,6}

Official languages: Spanish

Leading languages in daily life: Spanish, K'iche', Kaqchikel. Language of instruction in primary: Spanish.

Language of instruction in primary: Spanish. Language of instruction in secondary: Spanish.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, household survey.

Language variable: language of the mother.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
K'iche'	6.7	6.1	6.0	6.3	788
Kaqchikel	6.2	5.2	5.4	5.7	714
Q'eqchi'	5.1	5.2	4.8	5.0	630
Mam	3.9	2.5	3.3	3.4	422
Kanjobal	1.6	0.9	1.5	1.4	170
Tz'utujil	0.6	8.0	0.8	0.7	91
Poqomchi'	0.7	8.0	0.5	0.7	86
Other native	1.5	1.7	1.8	1.7	209
Spanish	73.6	76.8	75.8	75.1	9395
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	12505

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
K'iche'	30.3	57.9	11.9	100	54.9	39.7	5.4	100	44.3	47.5	8.2	100
Kaqchikel	24.9	61.5	13.6	100	48.7	43.1	8.1	100	36.9	52.3	10.8	100
Q'eqchi'	37.7	58.6	3.7	100	66.7	31.3	2.0	100	51.6	45.5	2.9	100
Mam	25.4	61.5	13.2	100	47.0	45.1	7.9	100	36.4	53.1	10.5	100
Kanjobal	35.0	65.0	0.0	100	51.1	48.9	0.0	100	43.5	56.5	0.0	100
Tz'utujil	46.7	51.1	2.2	100	60.9	32.6	6.5	100	53.8	41.8	4.4	100
Poqomchi'	21.7	47.8	30.4	100	43.9	43.9	12.2	100	32.2	46.0	21.8	100
Other native	31.4	52.3	16.3	100	55.0	36.7	8.3	100	45.1	43.2	11.7	100
Spanish	11.9	47.3	40.8	100	16.3	49.5	34.2	100	14.3	48.5	37.3	100
Total	16.7	50.2	33.1	100	25.6	47.1	27.3	100	21.4	48.6	30.0	100
N	969	2922	1924	5815	1690	3112	1799	6601	2659	6034	3723	12416

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
K'iche'	20.2	19.6	19.7	62.7	65.9	65.4	18.3	19.6	19.4	56.1	50.5	52.1
Kaqchikel	39.6	25.5	31.4	50.6	59.8	55.7	41.6	24.8	32.2	43.5	45.3	44.8
Q'eqchi'		25.6	25.0		53.3	52.0		27.2	26.6		41.4	40.5
Mam		23.3	22.5		55.6	54.7		25.2	24.0		45.8	44.7
Kanjobal		23.2	23.0		65.1	65.9		20.0	19.8		53.9	53.9
Tz'utujil			31.0									
Poqomchi'			9.8									
Other native		12.8	14.4		57.7	56.6		12.7	15.7		46.4	45.6
Spanish	8.2	17.1	13.1	30.7	54.3	42.9	8.4	16.1	12.6	24.3	43.5	34.6
Total	11.5	19.2	16.3	33.8	56.2	47.3	11.7	18.7	16.1	27.4	44.7	38.1
N	1787	3044	4831	1331	1979	3311	1514	2510	4024	1345	2173	3521

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

·		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio			Adjusted Odds	Ratio	
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16
K'iche'	0.95	1.44*	0.89	1.32*	0.90	1.36*	0.84	1.22
Kaqchikel	1.58*	1.11	1.63*	1.08	1.46*	1.19	1.51*	1.06
Q'eqchi'	1.19	0.91	1.28	0.92	0.80	0.51*	0.90	0.58*
Other native	0.96	1.21	0.97	1.19	0.89	0.96	0.91	1.01
Spanish	0.59*	0.57*	0.55*	0.64*	1.07	1.25*	0.97	1.32*
Pseudo R ²	2.7	3.6	3.2	2.3	16.9	32.2	16.2	27.0

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Guinea^{1,3,4}

Official language: French

Leading languages in daily life: Maninka, Pular, Susu. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages. Languages of instruction in secondary: local languages.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, women's survey.

Language variable: home language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Pular	32.2	33.4	36.6	33.9	3879
Maninka	29.4	28.0	27.7	28.4	3255
Susu	22.0	22.6	20.3	21.7	2483
Guerze	7.9	7.5	7.5	7.7	876
Kissi	5.6	5.7	5.4	5.6	636
Toma	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	262
Other native	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	3
French	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	39
English	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	9
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	11442

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	1en			Wo	men			7	Total	
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Pular	65.0	14.9	20.1	100	85.5	6.7	7.8	100	77.4	9.9	12.7	100
Maninka	65.9	13.6	20.5	100	85.8	7.6	6.6	100	76.8	10.3	12.9	100
Susu	44.0	20.6	35.4	100	66.6	17.3	16.1	100	56.5	18.8	24.7	100
Guerze	43.2	25.1	31.6	100	83.7	10.5	5.7	100	64.4	17.5	18.1	100
Kissi	42.9	32.4	24.7	100	76.8	16.5	6.8	100	61.2	23.8	15.0	100
Toma	35.7	36.7	27.6	100	84.8	9.1	6.1	100	66.4	19.5	14.1	100
Total	56.5	18.1	25.3	100	80.6	10.0	9.3	100	70.2	13.5	16.2	100
N	2759	885	1235	4879	5176	645	597	6418	7935	1530	1832	11297

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary			7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Pular	51.4	82.7	76.2	58.2	83.5	76.1	51.3	83.5	77.0	53.0	80.3	73.2
Maninka	52.5	85.6	75.0	53.0	87.0	73.0	53.8	87.0	76.6	48.9	81.7	68.8
Susu	40.6	78.0	60.0	47.9	83.0	62.9	41.5	80.6	61.3	40.8	74.4	56.9
Guerze	83.1	97.9	94.7	79.5	96.6	92.1	83.8	98.2	95.2	76.8	95.8	91.1
Kissi	32.3	53.8	49.2	40.8	77.5	70.0	32.1	54.1	49.4		68.3	62.9
Toma		54.5	55.5		62.3	62.8		60.6	61.2		42.9	45.5
Total	49.2	81.5	72.1	53.8	84.4	72.9	49.8	82.8	73.3	48.8	79.1	68.7
N	1719	4194	5913	1579	2620	4197	1433	3547	4979	1252	2411	3661

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

Adjusted Odds Ratio Unadjusted Odds Ratio 12-16 Language Primary Secondary 7-11 Primary Secondary 7-11 12-16 Pular 1.04 1.20* 0.91 1.23* 1.15 1.07 1.03 1.03 Maninka 1.25* 0.93 1.28* 1.01 1.34* 1.10 1.37* 1.13 Susu 0.60* 0.60* 0.60* 0.60* 1.00 0.92 1.06 0.88 Kissi 0.39* 0.74 0.37* 0.73* 0.26* 0.50* 0.24* 0.49* Other native 2.32* 2.95* 1.97* 2.78* 2.64* 2.18* 2.77* 2.01* Pseudo R² 5.8 3.1 6.1 2.9 24.9 25.9 26.7 23.5

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile India^{1,7}

Official languages: there are 19 official languages in India (see notes). Leading languages in daily life: Hindi, Bengali, Telugu. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages, English and Hindi. Languages of instruction in secondary: local languages, English and Hindi. Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, women's survey. Language variable: home language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Hindi	43.1	41.0	37.2	40.8	87091
Bengali	8.3	9.1	8.9	8.7	18580
Telugu	8.4	8.6	9.4	8.7	18667
Marathi	7.1	7.8	8.0	7.6	16165
Tamil	5.7	6.5	7.5	6.5	13786
Gujarati	4.8	4.3	5.4	4.8	10219
Oriya	3.5	4.0	3.6	3.7	7923
Kannada	3.7	3.4	3.8	3.6	7719
Malayalam	3.3	3.4	4.6	3.7	7906
Punjabi	2.6	2.6	2.8	2.6	5644
Urdu	2.4	2.0	1.9	2.1	4569
Assamese	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.5	3203
Kashmiri	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	1148
Konkani	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3	700
Nepali	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	536
Manipuri	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	332
Sindhi	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	316
Other	4.2	4.2	4.0	4.1	8832
English	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	66
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	213402

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	omen		Total			
			>				>				>	
Language	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total
Hindi	23.7	16.3	60.0	100	59.9	13.2	26.9	100	41.8	14.8	43.4	100
Bengali	21.3	27.3	51.4	100	38.8	25.8	35.4	100	30.1	26.6	43.4	100
Telugu	29.6	18.7	51.7	100	54.3	16.7	28.9	100	42.2	17.7	40.1	100
Marathi	12.3	16.9	70.8	100	35.2	17.2	47.6	100	23.8	17.1	59.1	100
Tamil	12.2	22.2	65.7	100	31.0	25.1	43.8	100	22.0	23.7	54.3	100
Gujarati	14.5	18.8	66.7	100	39.1	16.0	45.0	100	26.8	17.4	55.8	100
Oriya	23.1	22.6	54.3	100	50.1	20.3	29.6	100	36.7	21.4	41.8	100
Kannada	24.5	15.5	60.0	100	47.1	14.0	38.9	100	36.0	14.8	49.3	100
Malayalam	3.1	15.3	81.7	100	6.8	16.7	76.5	100	5.1	16.0	78.9	100
Punjabi	17.6	10.5	71.9	100	30.2	15.2	54.6	100	23.9	12.9	63.2	100
Urdu	24.8	19.7	55.6	100	45.7	17.9	36.4	100	35.4	18.8	45.8	100
Assamese	19.8	16.3	63.9	100	37.3	14.9	47.8	100	28.8	15.6	55.6	100
Kashmiri	24.9	11.9	63.2	100	59.1	11.4	29.5	100	42.1	11.7	46.2	100
Konkani	17.4	17.7	64.8	100	33.7	10.2	56.1	100	26.1	13.8	60.2	100
Nepali	11.1	26.4	62.5	100	41.3	16.7	42.0	100	26.6	21.4	52.0	100
Manipuri	5.1	13.9	81.0	100	26.3	17.7	56.0	100	16.2	15.9	67.9	100
Sindhi	6.6	5.3	88.1	100	12.8	10.4	76.8	100	9.8	7.9	82.2	100
Other	27.6	23.1	49.3	100	56.0	17.4	26.6	100	42.3	20.2	37.5	100
English									31.8	12.1	56.1	100
Total	21.1	18.4	60.5	100	48.0	16.6	35.3	100	34.8	17.5	47.8	100
N	22230	19323	63707	105260	51915	17959	38191	108065	74145	37282	101898	213325

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary Secon				Secondary	/		7-11		12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Hindi	12.1	24.8	22.0	25.2	41.7	37.5	10.8	22.9	20.1	25.2	41.7	37.5
Bengali	9.3	16.6	15.6	25.7	39.0	36.8	8.5	15.3	14.3	25.7	39.0	36.8
Telugu	7.1	16.3	14.3	29.5	51.4	45.9	7.8	17.4	15.3	29.5	51.4	45.9
Marathi	4.3	8.9	7.5	15.1	28.1	23.9	2.8	6.6	5.5	15.1	28.1	23.9
Tamil	2.5	5.8	4.7	20.3	31.1	27.5	2.1	6.5	5.1	20.3	31.1	27.5
Gujarati	9.3	20.3	16.2	28.4	48.8	40.9	8.5	19.9	15.6	28.4	48.8	40.9
Oriya	13.5	17.0	16.6	26.2	37.2	36.0	13.2	15.8	15.5	26.2	37.2	36.0
Kannada	5.0	16.6	13.9	21.9	42.4	37.5	5.1	15.6	13.1	21.9	42.4	37.5
Malayalam	1.2	2.9	2.5	6.4	11.1	10.0	0.6	1.1	1.0	6.4	11.1	10.0
Punjabi	2.1	6.7	5.2	8.9	23.7	18.7	2.3	5.6	4.6	8.9	23.7	18.7
Urdu	9.9	31.5	20.5	35.9	53.8	43.8	8.6	28.2	18.1	35.9	53.8	43.8
Assamese	9.3	13.5	13.3	13.9	28.2	26.9	10.2	11.6	11.5	13.9	28.2	26.9
Kashmiri	6.8	14.9	13.6	21.7	34.6	32.0	6.8	13.4	12.2	21.7	34.6	32.0
Konkani		26.8	21.6	4.5	37.6	27.6		26.2	21.0	4.5	37.6	27.6
Nepali		11.1	9.9		26.4	24.2		8.2	8.0		26.4	24.2
Manipuri		12.7	8.9	25.0	16.7	20.5		9.1	6.9	25.0	16.7	20.5
Sindhi	0.0		2.4	5.9		8.5	0.0		2.9	5.9		8.5
Other	5.0	22.3	20.3	18.6	43.5	40.1	5.0	21.0	19.0	18.6	43.5	40.1
Total	9.0	19.7	17.2	23.5	39.4	35.3	8.1	18.2	15.8	23.5	39.4	35.3
N	15714	52007	67721	13363	38544	51906	13088	42489	55578	13363	38544	51906

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio			Adjusted Odds	Ratio	
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16
Hindi	2.07*	1.26*	2.05*	1.26*	1.74*	1.10*	1.72*	1.10*
Bengali	1.22*	1.13*	1.23*	1.13*	0.81*	0.77*	0.81*	0.77*
Telugu	1.15*	1.65*	1.37*	1.65*	0.87*	1.41*	1.05	1.41*
Marathi	0.53*	0.61*	0.41*	0.61*	0.55*	0.69*	0.42*	0.69*
Tamil	0.32*	0.78*	0.39*	0.78*	0.37*	0.81*	0.45*	0.81*
Gujarati	1.40*	1.47*	1.49*	1.47*	2.12*	2.20*	2.31*	2.20*
Oriya	1.45*	1.19*	1.49*	1.19*	0.85*	0.71*	0.86*	0.71*
Kannada	1.13	1.19*	1.16*	1.19*	0.90	1.03	0.90	1.03
Punjabi	0.40*	0.50*	0.38*	0.50*	1.11	1.04	1.11	1.04
Urdu	1.84*	1.64*	1.70*	1.64*	2.14*	2.08*	2.01*	2.08*
Assamese	1.07	0.69*	0.98	0.69*	0.92	0.59*	0.82	0.59*
Other native	1.13*	0.76*	1.12*	0.76*	1.11*	0.72*	1.11*	0.72*
Pseudo R ²	4.8	2.6	4.6	2.6	26.8	28.0	27.9	28.0

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

Note

The official languages of India are: Assamese, Bengali, English (Associate), Gujarati, Hindi, Kannada, Kashmiri, Konkani, Malayalan, Manipuri, Marathi, Nepali, Oriya, Punjabi, Sanskrit, Sindhi, Tamil, Telugu, Urdu⁸.

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Kazakhstan^{1,6}

Official languages: Kazakh

Leading languages in daily life: Kazakh, Russian, Uzbek. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages. Languages of instruction in secondary: local languages.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, women's survey.

Language variable: native language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Kazakh	48.9	44.9	37.1	43.1	3928
Other native	2.1	2.9	3.5	2.9	262
Russian	49.0	52.2	59.4	54.0	4916
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	9106

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	⁄len			Wo	men		Total				
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	
Kazakh	0.5	0.4	99.1	100	0.2	0.1	99.6	100	0.4	0.3	99.4	100	
Other native	0.0	1.6	98.4	100	1.4	1.4	97.1	100	0.8	1.5	97.7	100	
Russian	0.1	0.7	99.3	100	0.3	0.3	99.5	100	0.2	0.4	99.4	100	
Total	0.3	0.6	99.2	100	0.3	0.3	99.5	100	0.3	0.4	99.3	100	
N	11	23	4102	4136	14	13	4936	4963	25	36	9038	9099	

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Kazakh	11.2	10.2	10.5	3.1	4.1	3.8	9.1	8.5	8.7	0.7	1.8	1.6
Other native		11.3	8.7		15.4	12.8		11.4	8.5		11.8	10.0
Russian	14.9	10.0	12.7	2.4	5.8	3.9	11.8	8.6	10.2	1.2	1.4	1.3
Total	13.2	10.2	11.4	2.6	5.2	4.1	10.5	8.7	9.4	1.0	2.0	1.7
N	705	1069	1774	1234	1717	2950	884	1367	2251	897	1221	2118

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

Country profile Kenya^{1,3,4,9}

Official languages: English, Swahili. Leading languages in daily life: Gikuyu, Luo, Luyia. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages and English.

Language of instruction in secondary: English

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, women's survey.

Language variable: home language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Gikuyu	20.5	22.5	23.6	21.9	2990
Luyia	15.6	13.7	14.7	14.8	2019
Luo	12.7	11.5	11.2	11.9	1631
Kamba	11.0	11.3	10.4	10.9	1493
Kalenjin	11.1	11.9	9.9	11.0	1506
Gusii	6.5	5.4	5.7	5.9	812
Meru	5.0	5.3	5.6	5.3	718
Mijikenda	4.2	4.1	4.0	4.1	562
Somali	3.3	3.0	3.2	3.2	433
Maasai	1.5	2.0	2.2	1.8	252
Embu	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.2	168
Swahili	8.0	1.1	0.9	0.9	126
Other native	6.3	6.7	7.5	6.7	917
English	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2	24
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	13651

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	men		Total				
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	
Gikuyu	1.8	48.5	49.7	100	2.4	53.1	44.4	100	2.2	51.3	46.6	100	
Luyia	4.3	59.0	36.7	100	9.1	61.5	29.4	100	7.1	60.4	32.5	100	
Luo	1.6	60.4	38.0	100	7.3	67.5	25.2	100	4.9	64.5	30.5	100	
Kamba	1.5	65.3	33.2	100	5.4	71.1	23.5	100	3.8	68.8	27.4	100	
Kalenjin	5.7	60.0	34.3	100	9.2	64.2	26.6	100	7.6	62.2	30.2	100	
Gusii	1.1	35.1	63.7	100	3.9	52.0	44.1	100	2.7	44.7	52.6	100	
Meru	5.9	62.2	31.9	100	7.7	59.5	32.8	100	7.0	60.6	32.4	100	
Mijikenda	11.9	69.5	18.6	100	40.7	51.8	7.5	100	29.1	58.9	12.0	100	
Somali	64.9	22.2	12.9	100	87.7	8.9	3.4	100	77.4	14.9	7.7	100	
Maasai	51.8	33.3	14.9	100	68.4	23.5	8.1	100	60.8	28.0	11.2	100	
Embu	3.8	63.3	32.9	100	5.6	49.4	44.9	100	4.8	56.0	39.3	100	
Swahili	7.1	73.2	19.6	100	25.7	58.6	15.7	100	17.5	65.1	17.5	100	
Other native	25.5	48.6	26.0	100	40.3	39.7	20.0	100	34.1	43.4	22.5	100	
Total	8.0	54.5	37.5	100	13.5	56.7	29.8	100	11.2	55.8	33.0	100	
N	455	3115	2144	5714	1064	4471	2350	7885	1519	7586	4494	13599	

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary			Secondary			7-11		12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Gikuyu	2.2	1.9	2.0	26.3	11.4	15.1	1.1	1.6	1.5	11.9	6.4	7.6
Luyia	5.8	4.9	5.0	23.8	10.7	12.4	8.0	3.0	3.7	15.9	5.8	7.2
Luo	4.0	1.8	2.3	24.8	17.1	18.5	2.5	0.7	1.1	15.2	10.6	11.5
Kamba	1.4	3.3	3.1		12.4	12.7	0.0	3.0	2.7	4.9	5.8	5.7
Kalenjin		8.9	8.8		10.8	11.5		7.2	7.1		7.8	8.1
Gusii		1.0	1.8		6.0	5.8		1.0	0.9		4.1	5.7
Meru		3.7	3.4		16.5	17.0		1.9	1.7		12.4	12.6
Mijikenda	5.3	19.2	16.6	38.1	29.7	31.5		16.5	14.2	24.4	22.1	22.6
Somali	38.2	61.2	54.8	53.2	65.5	61.8	31.6	57.9	51.0	48.2	62.7	58.4
Maasai		30.0	29.8		44.0	43.4		30.2	30.0		37.4	37.4
Swahili		5.6	9.7						7.3			
Other native	7.6	26.7	23.9	28.9	36.6	35.6	3.7	26.5	23.3	24.1	32.9	31.7
Total	7.5	9.8	9.4	28.0	17.4	18.9	5.6	8.6	8.2	18.7	13.0	13.8
N	988	5582	6568	592	3387	3980	684	3881	4564	614	3643	4254

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

Country profile Kyrgyz Republic^{1,10,11}

Official languages: Kirghiz

Leading languages in daily life: Kirghiz, Russian, Uzbek. Languages of instruction in primary: Kirghiz and Russian. Languages of instruction in secondary: Kirghiz and Russian.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1997, women's survey.

Language variable: native language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Kirghiz	80.3	77.6	77.1	78.4	5520
Russian	19.7	22.4	22.9	21.6	1519
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	7039

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					Wo	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Kirghiz	0.4	0.2	99.3	100	0.4	0.5	99.2	100	0.4	0.4	99.2	100
Russian	0.2	0.5	99.4	100	0.2	0.1	99.7	100	0.2	0.3	99.5	100
Total	0.4	0.3	99.3	100	0.3	0.4	99.3	100	0.4	0.3	99.3	100
N	13	9	3332	3354	12	15	3657	3684	25	24	6989	7038

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary		7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Kirghiz	6.0	4.6	4.9	5.4	6.4	6.2	4.1	3.7	3.8	7.5	8.2	8.0
Russian	4.0	1.3	2.8	5.2	9.6	7.0	3.0	8.0	2.1	6.6	13.5	9.1
Total	5.4	4.3	4.6	5.3	6.6	6.3	3.8	3.5	3.6	7.2	8.6	8.2
N	334	877	1211	677	2083	2759	551	1532	2082	460	1429	1887

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

Note

The official age at which children are supposed to be in primary school in Kyrgyz Republic is 6 to 9. From the children in our database no children aged 6 were in school. 'Primary' in Table 3 therefore only includes children aged 7-9.

Country profile Mali^{1,3,4}

Official languages: French

Leading languages in daily life: Bamanankan, Soninke, Fulfulde. Languages of instruction in primary: Bamanankan and French.

Language of instruction in secondary: French

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2001, women's survey.

Language variable: language of interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Bamanankan	86.7	86.3	85.1	86.1	18873
Songhay	3.5	3.7	4.2	3.8	833
Fulfulde	2.9	3.7	3.3	3.3	720
Dogon	2.4	2.6	4.0	2.9	645
Soninke	1.3	1.0	1.2	1.2	255
Bobo Madaré	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	87
Tamajaq	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	34
Minianke	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	10
Senoufo	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2
Other native	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	59
French	2.4	1.7	1.4	1.9	407
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	21925

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Men				Wo	men		Total			
			>				>				>	
Language	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total
Bamanankan	66.4	15.8	17.8	100	80.5	11.3	8.2	100	74.5	13.2	12.3	100
Songhay	64.5	17.6	17.9	100	77.6	16.7	5.6	100	72.3	17.1	10.6	100
Fulfulde	89.7	7.7	2.7	100	94.7	4.4	1.0	100	92.6	5.8	1.7	100
Dogon	80.9	12.5	6.6	100	92.8	6.4	8.0	100	87.8	9.0	3.3	100
Soninke	80.0	16.5	3.5	100	97.6	2.4	0.0	100	91.8	7.1	1.2	100
Bobo Madaré					77.6	14.3	8.2	100	73.6	12.6	13.8	100
Other native	87.8	7.3	4.9	100	98.5	1.5	0.0	100	94.4	3.7	1.9	100
French	24.3	7.4	68.3	100	31.0	9.9	59.1	100	27.7	8.6	63.7	100
Total	66.8	15.3	17.9	100	80.7	11.0	8.3	100	74.8	12.8	12.4	100
N	6152	1405	1653	9210	10092	1374	1035	12501	16244	2779	2688	21711

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	
Bamanankan	32.1	67.1	58.5	48.8	80.5	69.1	31.2	66.4	57.9	41.9	74.8	64.1	
Songhay	42.5	66.2	59.9	49.3	77.7	69.6	41.1	64.5	58.2	44.9	73.1	65.3	
Fulfulde	68.6	87.0	85.0	70.6	93.7	91.4	70.4	85.4	83.9	65.2	93.0	89.5	
Dogon	50.0	74.3	71.9	53.6	84.5	79.9	50.0	74.1	72.3	48.5	80.3	75.4	
Soninke	91.7	89.3	89.6	87.5	95.6	94.4	90.0	88.0	88.3	89.5	94.6	93.8	
Other native	29.2	82.0	70.2	42.1	92.1	75.4	28.6	84.6	72.4	23.5	81.6	63.6	
French	12.1	39.3	20.9	42.4	71.0	49.2	14.3	38.5	23.7	35.6	71.4	43.6	
Total	33.3	68.5	60.1	49.0	81.3	70.0	32.4	67.8	59.5	42.4	76.0	65.3	
N	2624	8326	10951	2506	4667	7173	2164	7026	9189	2194	4706	6900	

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio			Adjusted Odds	Ratio	
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16
Bamanankan	0.73*	0.71*	0.75*	0.71*	0.76*	0.94	0.77*	0.84*
Songhay	0.70*	0.70*	0.65*	0.76*	0.88	0.80	0.83	0.89
Other native	1.97*	1.99*	2.05*	1.87*	1.49*	1.33*	1.55*	1.34*
Pseudo R ²	2.1	1.9	2.2	1.9	24.5	31.8	24.3	31.0

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Mozambique 1,3,4,6

Official languages: Portugese

Leading languages in daily life: Makhuwa, Tsonga, Lomwe. Language of instruction in primary: Portugese Language of instruction in secondary: Portugese

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, women's survey.

Language variable: language respondent learned to speak.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Makhuwa	23.0	29.0	28.3	26.3	5631
Tsonga	15.4	11.0	12.5	13.3	2839
Sena	6.2	6.4	6.8	6.4	1374
Lomwe	5.6	7.5	7.0	6.6	1411
Chitswa	6.1	5.6	6.2	6.0	1284
Chichewa	4.2	5.1	4.9	4.7	996
Nhungue	3.8	3.8	4.1	3.9	838
Ndau	4.1	3.9	3.2	3.8	810
Chuwabo	3.1	4.1	3.5	3.5	752
Chope	2.0	1.7	1.9	1.9	408
Jaua	1.6	1.6	1.8	1.7	359
Tonga	2.1	1.4	1.8	1.8	388
Naconde	1.8	1.7	1.7	1.7	373
Ronga	2.0	1.3	1.8	1.7	372
Tewe	1.5	1.1	1.1	1.2	266
Chibarue	1.1	0.9	8.0	1.0	204
Shona	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.6	129
Chigorogonza	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.6	127
Nhanja	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.5	105
Kimuani	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	110
Chimanica	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.4	81
Suaili	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	39
Koti	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.3	62
Chitewe	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	32
Kikakwe	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	28
Other native	2.6	3.8	3.0	3.1	661
Portuguese	9.9	7.1	6.4	8.1	1731
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	21410

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Makhuwa	23.6	65.6	10.8	100	50.1	47.5	2.4	100	37.9	55.8	6.2	100
Tsonga	10.1	66.8	23.1	100	22.7	66.6	10.7	100	17.8	66.7	15.6	100
Sena	17.9	68.8	13.4	100	59.3	36.4	4.3	100	40.5	51.1	8.4	100
Lomwe	30.6	64.3	5.1	100	56.8	42.0	1.2	100	44.9	52.2	3.0	100
Chitswa	13.0	67.4	19.6	100	37.2	55.9	6.9	100	28.4	60.1	11.6	100
Chichewa	35.7	58.3	5.9	100	58.3	40.0	1.7	100	47.9	48.5	3.7	100
Nhungue	12.5	65.3	22.3	100	40.7	50.9	8.4	100	27.9	57.4	14.7	100
Ndau	13.3	72.9	13.8	100	57.3	37.6	5.1	100	38.0	53.1	8.9	100
Chuwabo	18.1	69.2	12.7	100	46.7	48.3	5.0	100	34.1	57.5	8.4	100
Chope	5.0	65.6	29.4	100	21.5	66.8	11.7	100	15.0	66.3	18.7	100
Jaua	41.0	49.4	9.6	100	64.0	33.5	2.5	100	53.9	40.4	5.6	100
Tonga	3.8	64.3	31.8	100	19.4	67.8	12.8	100	13.0	66.4	20.6	100
Naconde	18.4	73.0	8.6	100	45.5	48.3	6.2	100	34.2	58.7	7.2	100
Ronga	1.9	57.4	40.7	100	11.5	66.0	22.5	100	7.3	62.3	30.5	100
Tewe	4.9	74.0	21.1	100	34.3	62.9	2.8	100	20.7	68.0	11.3	100
Chibarue	10.0	66.0	24.0	100	38.1	60.0	1.9	100	24.4	62.9	12.7	100
Shona	10.7	69.6	19.6	100	27.5	60.9	11.6	100	20.0	64.8	15.2	100
Chigorogonza	18.3	65.0	16.7	100	56.9	43.1	0.0	100	38.4	53.6	8.0	100
Nhanja	15.1	60.4	24.5	100	56.6	39.6	3.8	100	35.8	50.0	14.2	100
Kimuani	28.8	51.9	19.2	100	65.4	26.9	7.7	100	47.1	39.4	13.5	100
Chimanica					18.2	75.0	6.8	100	11.1	75.3	13.6	100
Koti									13.3	36.7	50.0	100
Other native	24.6	68.8	6.5	100	61.7	35.8	2.5	100	45.9	49.9	4.2	100
Portuguese	5.2	47.3	47.6	100	8.8	51.1	40.1	100	7.2	49.4	43.4	100
Total	18.1	64.3	17.6	100	41.4	50.3	8.3	100	31.2	56.4	12.4	100
N	1688	5983	1639	9310	4954	6011	995	11960	6642	11994	2634	21270

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary			7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Makhuwa	51.0	58.6	56.5	30.9	37.0	34.8	42.1	49.4	47.4	29.6	35.2	33.1
Tsonga	12.9	30.1	21.2	17.5	29.3	22.4	7.1	19.9	13.1	15.4	28.2	20.9
Sena	33.6	56.0	50.6	18.5	32.9	28.6	21.7	42.2	36.5	16.0	33.1	28.3
Lomwe	44.4	64.7	62.0	15.1	30.7	28.4	32.2	53.1	50.1	13.0	28.9	26.7
Chitswa	16.9	37.9	32.7	16.0	27.7	23.6	8.2	24.8	20.1	15.4	27.2	23.1
Chichewa		64.6	63.5		54.7	53.5		57.0	56.1		53.4	52.1
Nhungue	24.1	58.0	47.8	16.4	33.5	27.2	13.5	47.1	36.4	16.1	35.0	28.0
Ndau	40.7	50.2	47.4	22.5	25.0	24.3	29.4	34.9	33.3	17.1	25.3	22.9
Chuwabo	11.1	58.6	51.4	20.0	34.1	31.4	4.2	44.6	38.8	19.0	38.6	34.3
Chope	8.6	25.8	20.2	9.5	20.6	16.2	3.2	12.8	9.9	5.5	21.3	15.4
Jaua		86.5	79.5		67.9	58.0		80.2	71.9		65.8	55.2
Tonga	13.2	20.0	16.2	13.3	22.4	17.1	7.9	14.1	10.7	12.1	19.2	15.3
Naconde		41.9	38.6	16.7	30.0	25.8		28.6	26.8		27.5	22.5
Ronga	15.2		15.6	8.1		8.6	5.3		7.0	5.6		5.9
Tewe	33.3	38.7	36.8	18.9	14.0	17.1	18.0	23.6	21.0	17.5	15.0	16.3
Chibarue		61.4	56.2			20.8			39.4			23.1
Shona		50.0	46.3		21.3	18.5			26.0			17.6
Other native	32.8	55.1	50.0	28.9	42.3	37.5	23.9	41.8	37.2	21.2	40.4	34.0
Portuguese	12.5	52.1	24.4	14.0	19.1	14.9	7.3	36.3	14.7	12.8	16.3	13.6
Total	28.4	54.2	46.4	20.0	34.2	28.5	19.7	42.7	35.3	18.3	33.5	27.6
N	2570	5912	8483	3180	4758	7939	2474	5167	7645	2302	3640	5940

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ls Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio						
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16			
Makhuwa	1.59*	1.48*	1.85*	1.43*	1.39*	1.34*	1.59*	1.30*			
Tsonga	0.31*	0.68*	0.27*	0.64*	0.49*	1.02	0.43*	1.01			
Sena	1.31*	1.17	1.26*	1.28*	1.09	1.01	1.04	1.11			
Lomwe	2.17*	1.12	2.20*	1.09	1.43*	0.79*	1.46*	0.75*			
Chitswa	0.55*	0.66*	0.50*	0.63*	0.55*	0.68*	0.52*	0.64*			
Chichewa	2.15*	3.53*	2.72*	3.41*	1.66*	2.78*	2.08*	2.75*			
Nhungue	1.15	1.14	1.23	1.23	1.14	1.07	1.26	1.12			
Ndau	1.04	0.84	1.01	0.75	0.94	0.71*	0.86	0.65*			
Echuwabo	1.27*	1.23	1.24	1.45*	1.08	1.07	1.02	1.22			
Other native	0.90	1.06	0.90	1.09	0.94	1.07	0.95	1.08			
Portuguese	0.45*	0.26*	0.38*	0.25*	0.94	0.56*	0.86	0.54*			
Pseudo R ²	9.9	6.0	11.3	6.0	23.3	17.8	25.6	18.5			

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area * P ·

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Namibia 1,3,4,6

Official language: English

Leading languages in daily life: Afrikaans, Herero, English.
Languages of instruction in primary: local languages and English.

Language of instruction in secondary: English

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2000, women's survey.

Language variable: language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Kwanyama	51.5	46.6	39.6	47.0	5320
Nama	14.3	15.9	17.6	15.6	1767
Herero	8.5	10.8	11.2	9.9	1119
Kwangali	6.4	4.5	4.8	5.4	612
Lozi	1.8	1.9	1.6	1.8	201
Other native	8.4	9.2	9.5	9.0	1015
Afrikaans	8.4	10.5	14.8	10.7	1208
English	0.6	0.6	1.0	0.7	82
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	11324

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Men				Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Kwanyama	12.4	42.6	45.0	100	7.0	36.8	56.2	100	9.0	39.0	52.0	100
Nama	14.2	28.6	57.2	100	13.2	35.4	51.4	100	13.7	32.4	53.9	100
Herero	17.3	27.2	55.5	100	18.5	27.2	54.3	100	18.0	27.2	54.8	100
Kwangali	9.5	37.4	53.1	100	16.3	45.6	38.1	100	13.2	41.9	44.9	100
Lozi	3.6	14.3	82.1	100	6.0	33.3	60.7	100	5.0	25.4	69.7	100
Other native	17.2	33.6	49.3	100	23.3	37.0	39.7	100	20.8	35.6	43.6	100
Afrikaans	1.6	12.5	85.9	100	1.7	12.3	85.9	100	1.7	12.4	85.9	100
English					0.0	6.3	93.8	100	0.0	8.6	91.4	100
Total	12.0	33.4	54.6	100	10.4	33.3	56.3	100	11.0	33.3	55.7	100
N	534	1489	2436	4459	694	2233	3776	6703	1228	3722	6212	11162

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Kwanyama	22.5	15.0	16.0	13.5	9.6	9.9	11.6	7.9	8.4	6.1	7.2	7.1
Nama	15.6	38.7	24.7	19.5	37.5	26.8	4.8	25.5	13.0	12.4	34.9	20.8
Herero	13.8	41.0	28.1	14.7	36.7	23.1	10.3	31.7	20.5	13.3	26.9	18.9
Kwangali	21.5	18.9	19.4	14.5	24.5	21.9	13.7	14.7	14.4	10.7	16.9	15.3
Lozi		31.9	27.0			22.0		25.5	22.9		17.4	16.1
Other native	27.5	33.1	32.4		32.5	30.6		28.8	27.1		24.7	23.8
Afrikaans	11.7	22.8	14.0	5.5		7.6	2.7	7.4	3.6	2.8	14.0	4.5
Total	16.9	21.4	20.1	13.7	16.6	15.8	7.4	13.9	12.2	8.6	13.0	11.8
N	1484	3848	5331	856	2227	3081	1059	2753	3816	887	2330	3215

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16		
Kwanyama	0.62*	0.40*	0.52*	0.35*	0.59*	0.29*	0.41*	0.26*		
Nama	1.22*	1.57*	1.05	1.80*	1.44*	2.71*	1.60*	3.17*		
Other native	1.32*	1.59*	1.84*	1.57*	1.17*	1.27*	1.52*	1.22		
Pseudo R ²	3.3	9.8	6.5	10.2	8.4	22.7	19.2	22.9		

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Nepal^{1,6}

Official languages: Nepali

Leading languages in daily life: Nepali, Maithili, Bhojpuri. Languages of instruction in primary: Nepali and English. Languages of instruction in secondary: Nepali and English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2006, household survey.

Language variable: native language of the respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Nepali	40.1	39.6	38.4	39.4	7266
Maithili	11.6	13.2	13.9	12.8	2357
Tharu	11.7	12.0	11.1	11.6	2137
Bhojpuri	5.1	5.2	4.6	5.0	915
Other native	31.5	30.0	32.0	31.2	5749
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	18424

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	1en			W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Nepali	12.0	22.9	65.1	100	43.1	17.6	39.3	100	29.9	19.8	50.2	100
Maithili	34.7	22.3	43.0	100	77.0	10.0	13.0	100	58.7	15.3	26.0	100
Tharu	26.8	26.5	46.6	100	69.2	11.9	18.9	100	49.7	18.6	31.7	100
Bhojpuri	28.2	33.6	38.2	100	77.3	14.0	8.7	100	51.6	24.3	24.2	100
Other native	19.4	32.4	48.2	100	54.1	19.8	26.1	100	39.3	25.2	35.5	100
Total	20.0	26.8	53.3	100	55.2	16.5	28.2	100	39.9	21.0	39.1	100
N	1597	2142	4261	8000	5756	1725	2942	10423	7353	3867	7203	18423

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Nepali	3.6	4.6	4.4	9.1	11.1	10.7	2.9	3.5	3.4	12.4	14.7	14.3
Maithili	26.0	23.9	24.0	33.8	36.5	36.3	18.9	22.8	22.5	41.1	43.0	42.8
Tharu		9.1	8.8		12.1	12.3		5.1	5.0		15.9	16.1
Bhojpuri	15.4	27.6	25.0	25.0	40.4	37.5	13.8	26.1	23.3	30.2	48.2	45.1
Other native	5.4	11.8	11.1	13.5	17.9	17.4	4.8	9.6	9.1	16.5	21.8	21.1
Total	6.9	11.6	11.0	13.6	18.0	17.4	5.3	9.5	9.0	17.3	22.2	21.5
N	608	4138	4745	995	6586	7580	733	5170	5904	710	4504	5213

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio						
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16			
Nepali	0.28*	0.36*	0.25*	0.37*	0.27*	0.35*	0.22*	0.37*			
Maithili	2.13*	2.03*	2.35*	1.98*	2.16*	1.98*	2.36*	1.97*			
Bhojpuri	2.12*	2.09*	2.36*	2.14*	2.26*	2.46*	2.94*	2.48*			
Other native	0.79*	0.65*	0.71*	0.63*	0.76*	0.59*	0.65*	0.56*			
Pseudo R ²	10.3	9.1	11.3	9.3	21.3	22.1	25.6	22.6			

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Nigeria^{1,3,4}

Official languages: English (Hausa, Igbo, Yoruba co-official in some states)

Leading languages in daily life: English, Hausa, Igbo. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages. Language of instruction in secondary: English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, household survey.

Language variable: native language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Hausa	25.0	27.1	26.6	26.0	3886
Yoruba	10.9	11.9	11.4	11.3	1689
Igbo	11.1	10.5	12.6	11.3	1691
Other native	51.9	49.1	47.9	50.1	7480
English	1.1	1.4	1.6	1.3	195
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	14941

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Men				Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Hausa	47.6	19.8	32.7	100	79.2	10.5	10.3	100	64.7	14.8	20.6	100
Yoruba	5.2	18.9	75.9	100	13.2	23.3	63.5	100	9.2	21.1	69.7	100
Igbo	4.2	28.0	67.7	100	8.0	26.3	65.6	100	6.2	27.1	66.6	100
Other native	19.3	21.7	59.0	100	39.0	23.5	37.5	100	29.3	22.6	48.1	100
English	2.8	28.4	68.8	100	9.4	22.4	68.2	100	5.7	25.8	68.6	100
Total	22.7	21.7	55.6	100	43.3	20.3	36.5	100	33.3	21.0	45.7	100
N	1629	1556	3986	7171	3301	1545	2783	7629	4930	3101	6769	14800

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Hausa	40.6	65.8	58.1	32.2	69.5	56.3	35.1	61.1	52.9	31.9	66.6	54.2
Yoruba	6.5	8.2	7.0	12.2	14.1	12.9	5.6	6.6	5.9	8.8	12.1	9.7
Igbo	7.3	7.5	7.4	8.0	7.5	7.7	6.6	7.3	7.0	8.4	5.4	6.5
Other native	22.2	31.3	29.2	26.6	29.5	28.8	20.0	27.1	25.4	24.0	27.5	26.5
English			7.5			12.2			2.4			
Total	22.2	39.4	33.9	22.1	36.9	31.6	19.4	35.0	29.9	20.5	34.7	29.5
N	1908	4038	5946	1687	2956	4644	1580	3273	4854	1436	2523	3957

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio				
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	
Hausa	2.13*	1.91*	2.13*	1.97*	1.88*	1.72*	1.83*	1.81*	
Other native	0.47*	0.52*	0.47*	0.51*	0.53*	0.58*	0.55*	0.55*	
Pseudo R ²	15.0	9.6	14.7	10.6	38.9	28.3	39.8	32.6	

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Peru^{1,6}

Official languages: Spanish

Leading languages in daily life: Spanish, Quechua, Aymara. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages and Spanish.

Language of instruction in secondary: Spanish

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2000, women's survey.

Language variable: ethnicity

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Quechua	7.7	7.8	8.9	8.1	4314
Aymara	0.7	0.9	1.1	0.9	473
Other native	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.3	173
Spanish	91.2	90.9	89.7	90.6	48364
Foreign language	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	43
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	53367

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men				Women				Total			
•			>				>				>	
Language	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total	None	Primary	primary	Total
Quechua	4.3	54.6	41.1	100	24.8	58.7	16.5	100	15.3	56.8	27.9	100
Aymara	2.8	34.4	62.8	100	9.1	63.8	27.2	100	6.1	50.2	43.6	100
Other native	7.2	33.7	59.0	100	14.6	56.2	29.2	100	11.0	45.3	43.6	100
Spanish	0.9	20.4	78.7	100	3.8	25.6	70.6	100	2.5	23.2	74.4	100
Foreign language									7.0	20.9	72.1	100
Total	1.2	23.3	75.4	100	5.6	28.7	65.8	100	3.6	26.2	70.2	100
N	306	5767	18627	24700	1591	8204	18805	28600	1897	13971	37432	53300

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Quechua	3.0	9.1	8.7	8.0	15.7	15.1	0.7	5.7	5.3	8.0	15.7	15.1
Aymara		4.3	4.0		11.7	11.1		3.3	3.1		11.7	11.1
Other native		9.9	9.9		21.3	21.3		8.3	8.3		21.3	21.3
Spanish	2.8	6.2	4.0	7.2	22.4	12.0	2.0	3.9	2.7	7.2	22.4	12.0
Total	2.8	6.9	4.7	7.2	20.5	12.3	2.0	4.4	3.0	7.2	20.5	12.3
N	9287	7394	16680	8016	5057	13074	7783	6081	13864	8016	5057	13074

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16
Quechua	1.54*	1.19*	1.47*	1.19*	1.10*	0.72*	1.08	0.72*
Spanish	0.65*	0.84*	0.68*	0.84*	0.91*	1.40*	0.93	1.40*
Pseudo R ²	1.7	0.3	1.1	0.3	0.8	16.9	6.6	16.9

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Philippines^{1,6}

Official languages: Tagalog, English. Leading languages in daily life: Tagalog, Cebuano, Ilocano. Languages of instruction in primary: Tagalog and English. Languages of instruction in secondary: Tagalog and English.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2003, household survey.

Language variable: language of the respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Tagalog	42.2	42.1	41.0	41.8	12072
Cebuano	25.7	26.3	26.8	26.2	7579
Hiligaynon	7.2	7.3	7.1	7.2	2083
Ilocano	7.1	7.4	7.8	7.4	2147
Bicolano	4.6	3.7	4.5	4.3	1245
Aklanon	2.8	3.2	3.0	3.0	860
Waray-Waray	2.8	2.9	2.9	2.9	829
Pampangan	2.0	1.6	2.1	1.9	559
Tausug	1.6	1.6	1.1	1.5	421
Maguindanao	0.9	1.0	0.7	0.9	250
Pangasinan	1.1	0.9	0.9	1.0	284
Maranao	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	164
Chavacano	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5	150
Kinaray-A	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.3	85
Surigaonon	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	75
Cuyonon	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	61
Kankanaey	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	29
English	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	7
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	28900

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Tagalog	0.7	18.5	80.8	100	0.7	16.3	83.0	100	0.7	17.4	81.9	100
Cebuano	2.1	37.6	60.3	100	1.3	30.1	68.6	100	1.7	34.1	64.2	100
Hiligaynon	1.6	33.5	64.8	100	1.7	24.3	74.0	100	1.7	29.2	69.1	100
Ilocano	1.1	28.9	70.1	100	1.3	23.1	75.7	100	1.2	26.1	72.8	100
Bicolano	1.1	28.2	70.8	100	0.2	24.4	75.4	100	0.6	26.4	73.0	100
Aklanon	8.6	37.7	53.7	100	8.1	31.0	60.9	100	8.4	34.5	57.1	100
Waray-Waray	3.2	49.3	47.5	100	1.3	37.9	60.8	100	2.3	44.0	53.7	100
Pampangan	0.3	17.6	82.1	100	1.1	25.5	73.4	100	0.7	21.3	78.0	100
Tausug	13.6	32.3	54.0	100	16.1	26.8	57.1	100	14.9	29.4	55.7	100
Maguindanao	12.9	54.8	32.3	100	26.6	42.7	30.6	100	19.8	48.8	31.5	100
Pangasinan	2.1	14.9	83.0	100	0.7	12.8	86.5	100	1.4	13.8	84.8	100
Maranao	8.2	42.4	49.4	100	5.1	35.4	59.5	100	6.7	39.0	54.3	100
Chavacano	0.0	34.7	65.3	100	0.0	26.0	74.0	100	0.0	30.4	69.6	100
Kinaray-A	0.0	32.6	67.4	100	0.0	33.3	66.7	100	0.0	32.9	67.1	100
Surigaonon									1.4	24.3	74.3	100
Cuyonon									1.7	21.7	76.7	100
Total	1.8	28.2	70.0	100	1.7	23.0	75.3	100	1.8	25.7	72.6	100
N	270	4197	10419	14886	237	3221	10542	14000	507	7418	20961	28886

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			S	econdary	•	7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Tagalog	5.4	7.6	6.0	8.7	14.2	10.1	3.2	4.0	3.4	12.9	16.4	13.8
Cebuano	5.2	9.8	8.3	10.9	19.1	16.1	3.5	6.2	5.3	14.3	22.4	19.4
Hiligaynon	6.9	8.2	7.7	14.4	15.9	15.3	3.3	4.6	4.3	15.4	19.4	18.3
Ilocano	2.8	6.2	5.1	7.2	9.9	8.9	0.5	4.5	3.1	9.1	14.5	12.6
Bicolano	4.7	5.8	5.5	12.3	15.4	14.4	2.4	4.0	3.6	11.4	18.0	15.9
Aklanon	16.2	18.4	17.9	24.4	19.1	20.0	10.3	15.1	14.2	25.5	23.9	24.2
Waray-Waray	7.2	12.5	11.2	10.0	20.6	18.2	5.4	6.7	6.4	10.8	23.1	20.0
Pampangan	1.2	3.6	2.4	9.8	20.3	14.8	1.4	1.5	2.1	10.6	25.3	17.2
Tausug	17.6		17.1	23.0		23.1	12.7		12.2	23.3		23.6
Maguindanao		33.9	33.6		32.8	32.2		25.3	25.3		36.2	36.6
Pangasinan	4.0		3.9	4.9		3.2	2.3		3.0	8.0		7.9
Maranao		25.9	24.2			31.7		17.1	15.8		31.0	33.3
Other native	3.2	4.8	3.4	17.8	6.9	11.7	0.0	3.9	2.4	15.7	9.4	12.2
Total	5.6	10.0	7.9	10.2	16.9	13.7	3.4	6.4	5.0	13.4	20.2	16.9
N	4157	4848	9003	2813	3052	5866	3425	4048	7476	3515	3706	7220

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	
Tagalog	0.75*	0.69*	0.70*	0.75*	1.25*	1.13	1.18	1.16*	
Cebuano	1.03	1.19*	1.07	1.16*	0.79*	0.91	0.82*	0.91	
Other native	1.29*	1.22*	1.34*	1.15*	1.02	0.97	1.04	0.94	
Pseudo R ²	0.9	1.3	1.1	0.9	13.9	17.4	13.9	14.7	

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area P < 0.05

Country profile South Africa^{1,3,4,6}

Official languages: South Africa has 11 official languages (see notes).

Leading languages in daily life: Zulu, Xhosa, Afrikaans. Languages of instruction in primary: local languages. Languages of instruction in secondary: local languages.

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1998, women's survey.

Language variable: home language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Zulu	24.7	23.5	23.9	24.1	4691
Xhosa	16.2	14.5	13.6	14.9	2892
Tswana	11.4	11.8	10.3	11.2	2172
SePedi	10.3	8.1	7.4	8.8	1704
SeSotho	8.3	8.8	9.1	8.7	1691
Tsonga	3.1	2.7	1.6	2.5	487
Swati	2.3	2.1	1.4	2.0	380
Venda	2.1	1.7	1.4	1.7	340
Ndebele	1.0	1.0	0.9	0.9	182
Afrikaans	12.1	14.9	17.2	14.5	2818
English	8.7	10.9	13.3	10.8	2097
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	19454

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men					W	omen		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Zulu	8.4	28.0	63.6	100	11.2	29.9	58.8	100	10.1	29.2	60.7	100
Xhosa	4.3	37.3	58.3	100	5.2	30.3	64.5	100	4.9	33.0	62.1	100
Tswana	4.8	26.7	68.6	100	6.8	24.4	68.8	100	6.0	25.3	68.7	100
SePedi	5.4	22.9	71.8	100	11.4	21.8	66.8	100	9.2	22.2	68.6	100
SeSotho	3.6	28.6	67.7	100	4.4	26.2	69.4	100	4.1	27.2	68.7	100
Tsonga	5.1	22.7	72.2	100	18.6	27.4	54.1	100	13.7	25.7	60.7	100
Swati	3.6	31.7	64.7	100	13.3	25.3	61.4	100	9.7	27.6	62.6	100
Venda	3.6	28.6	67.9	100	5.6	29.4	65.0	100	4.7	29.1	66.2	100
Ndebele	6.9	26.4	66.7	100	10.9	15.5	73.6	100	9.3	19.8	70.9	100
Afrikaans	2.6	23.7	73.7	100	3.0	20.8	76.1	100	2.8	22.1	75.1	100
English	8.0	7.0	92.2	100	1.2	8.2	90.6	100	1.0	7.7	91.3	100
Total	4.7	25.7	69.6	100	7.3	24.5	68.2	100	6.2	25.0	68.8	100
N	366	2006	5432	7804	835	2824	7854	11513	1201	4830	13286	19317

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary		Secondary			7-11			12-16			
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Zulu	2.8	9.2	6.7	7.7	14.3	11.3	3.0	10.3	7.4	3.3	8.0	6.1
Xhosa	1.4	4.3	3.3	7.0	11.6	9.8	1.7	4.7	3.6	3.5	6.1	5.1
Tswana	3.9	3.5	3.7	8.2	10.5	9.2	4.2	4.0	4.1	2.2	4.8	3.5
SePedi	1.2	3.3	2.8	5.1	9.1	8.0	1.7	3.8	3.6	0.8	3.1	2.5
SeSotho	3.1	4.0	3.3	6.8	9.5	7.3	3.2	4.7	3.6	2.8	1.1	2.3
Tsonga		2.6	2.4		8.9	8.2		3.4	3.2		3.0	2.8
Swati		2.7	3.2		5.0	5.8		2.9	3.8		2.7	3.0
Venda		1.3	1.2		2.3	6.2		1.0	0.9		0.9	8.0
Ndebele			0.0			5.9			0.0			1.9
Afrikaans	1.2	5.1	2.1	17.6	33.3	20.2	1.2	6.3	2.3	4.4	12.0	5.8
English	1.7	0.0	1.5	18.0	7.0	16.5	1.5	0.0	1.3	3.9	3.0	3.8
Total	2.2	5.2	3.9	10.8	11.7	11.2	2.4	5.8	4.3	3.3	5.5	4.4
N	3555	4231	7790	2500	2407	4908	2484	2966	5451	2646	2823	5467

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

Note

Official languages are: Afrikaans, English, Ndebele, SePedi (Northern Sotho), SeSotho (Southern Sotho), Tswana, Swati, Venda, Tsonga, Xhosa, Zulu⁸.

Country profile Togo^{1,3,4,6}

Official languages: French

Leading languages in daily life: Éwé, Kabiyé, Tem. Languages of instruction in primary: Éwé, Kabye and French.

Language of instruction in secondary: French

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1998, household survey.

Language variable: language of the interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Éwé	50.1	49.7	50.9	50.1	7907
Tem	7.4	6.8	8.3	7.4	1170
Moba	6.0	7.2	7.7	6.8	1076
Kabiyé	6.5	5.8	5.6	6.0	951
Other native	6.0	6.4	6.8	6.3	999
French	24.0	24.1	20.8	23.3	3667
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	15770

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Men				Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Éwé	17.6	46.1	36.3	100	50.2	36.8	13.0	100	34.8	41.2	24.0	100
Tem	43.5	27.1	29.4	100	70.3	22.2	7.5	100	57.1	24.6	18.2	100
Moba	56.3	32.6	11.1	100	87.9	10.0	2.1	100	74.6	19.5	5.9	100
Kabiyé	19.0	36.5	44.5	100	40.2	43.8	16.0	100	30.1	40.3	29.6	100
Other native	47.5	31.3	21.2	100	71.5	20.5	8.0	100	60.3	25.6	14.2	100
French	9.0	24.9	66.0	100	31.8	32.8	35.4	100	20.1	28.8	51.1	100
Total	21.7	37.1	41.2	100	51.3	32.2	16.5	100	37.1	34.5	28.4	100
N	1634	2791	3106	7531	4179	2625	1343	8147	5813	5416	4449	15678

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary	,		7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Éwé	13.1	30.7	26.5	30.5	32.4	31.8	11.5	25.3	22.0	24.0	25.3	24.9
Tem	19.6	41.0	34.1	27.0	44.3	37.3	15.8	36.1	29.5	23.2	41.1	33.8
Moba		48.4	47.6		61.1	59.6		45.0	44.2		59.5	58.0
Kabiyé	13.0	31.7	28.5	16.8	23.3	21.9	9.6	25.1	22.6	13.2	18.8	17.7
Other native	21.0	56.7	49.1	34.9	69.0	57.1	18.0	54.3	46.3	27.0	64.8	52.8
French	10.3	30.2	20.8	26.4	30.0	27.9	9.5	26.0	18.1	19.6	23.8	21.5
Total	13.7	35.7	30.0	28.6	37.8	34.7	11.9	30.8	25.8	22.4	32.5	29.2
N	2107	5963	8070	2310	4481	6794	1754	4878	6636	1658	3409	5066

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

Unadjusted Odds Ratio Adjusted Odds Ratio Primary 12-16 Primary Language Secondary 7-11 Secondary 7-11 12-16 Éwé 0.72* 0.71* 0.68* 0.64* 0.87* 0.78* 0.83* 0.70* Tem 1.04 1.03 1.09 0.98 1.04 0.99 1.14 1.05 2.45* 2.96* 1.64* Moba 1.77* 1.90* 1.86* 1.09 1.16 Kabiyé 0.77* 0.45* 0.68* 0.46* 0.79* 0.43* 0.70* 0.44* Other native 2.08* 2.43* 2.62* 1.50* 2.19* 2.32* 1.67* 2.28* French 0.47* 0.50* 0.46* 0.40* 0.91 0.80* 0.91 0.67* Pseudo R² 5.9 8.4 7.0 12.0 25.0 22.5 25.6 26.7

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Turkey^{1,12}

Official languages: Turkish

Leading languages in daily life: Turkish, Kurdish, Dimli. Language of instruction in primary: Turkish

Language of instruction in primary: Turkish Language of instruction in secondary: Turkish

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1998, women's survey.

Language variable: mother tongue

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Turkish	75.2	82.6	84.6	80.3	12511
Kurdish	20.4	14.2	11.7	15.9	2477
Arabic	2.8	2.1	1.8	2.3	351
Other	1.6	1.1	2.0	1.6	245
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	15584

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		N	⁄len			Wo	men		Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Turkish	1.7	42.8	55.5	100	10.9	54.7	34.4	100	6.5	49.1	44.4	100
Kurdish	12.4	53.4	34.3	100	51.4	40.9	7.8	100	32.2	47.0	20.8	100
Arabic	3.5	64.2	32.4	100	41.2	49.7	9.0	100	22.6	56.9	20.6	100
Other	3.1	44.2	52.7	100	13.8	56.9	29.3	100	8.2	50.2	41.6	100
Total	3.5	45.1	51.4	100	17.8	52.5	29.7	100	11.0	49.0	40.1	100
N	258	3347	3820	7425	1450	4272	2417	8139	1708	7619	6237	15564

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Turkish	15.1	18.6	16.3	33.6	60.9	43.8	5.3	8.8	6.5	28.4	56.8	38.8
Kurdish	39.1	54.3	45.8	56.6	80.2	67.1	28.5	45.3	35.9	52.0	77.5	63.2
Arabic	28.0	35.8	31.3	67.6	89.6	76.1	20.0	27.3	23.1	64.9	87.5	74.2
Other			24.4		46.9	39.7						37.0
Total	21.2	30.0	24.5	39.6	66.5	50.2	11.1	20.3	14.6	34.6	63.0	45.7
N	2416	1468	3884	2412	1583	3996	1962	1209	3171	2020	1298	3319

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

		Unadjusted Odd	ds Ratio		Adjusted Odds Ratio					
Language	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16	Primary	Secondary	7-11	12-16		
Turkish	0.46*	0.45*	0.31*	0.43*	0.61*	0.61*	0.45*	0.58*		
Kurdish	2.01*	1.17	2.46*	1.17	1.64*	0.91	1.86*	0.94		
Arabic	1.08	1.91*	1.32	1.98*	1.00	1.81*	1.20	1.82*		
Pseudo R ²	12.2	6.3	19.7	7.0	18.3	30.3	30.5	34.3		

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Zambia 1,3,4,6

Official languages: English

Leading languages in daily life: Bemba, Tonga, Nyanja. Language of instruction in primary: English

Language of instruction in primary: English Language of instruction in secondary: English

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 2002, women's survey.

Language variable: language of respondent.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Bemba	24.1	25.4	22.6	24.1	3376
Tonga	13.8	12.9	13.8	13.5	1887
Nyanja	10.0	10.3	9.6	10.0	1399
Lozi	6.1	5.8	5.7	5.9	828
Lunda	2.6	3.0	2.5	2.7	379
Kaonde	2.4	2.4	2.6	2.5	344
Luvale	1.5	1.8	1.9	1.7	234
Other native	39.1	38.1	40.8	39.2	5481
English	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	54
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	13982

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

	Men				Women				Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total
Bemba	3.0	44.3	52.7	100	6.9	56.7	36.4	100	5.1	51.0	44.0	100
Tonga	3.5	56.5	40.0	100	11.3	59.2	29.5	100	7.6	57.9	34.5	100
Nyanja	15.6	49.3	35.1	100	20.2	54.0	25.8	100	18.0	51.8	30.2	100
Lozi	4.9	45.7	49.5	100	6.8	52.5	40.7	100	5.9	49.5	44.6	100
Lunda	4.8	46.1	49.1	100	14.8	54.3	31.0	100	10.3	50.7	39.0	100
Kaonde	3.2	49.7	47.1	100	11.4	59.5	29.2	100	7.6	55.0	37.4	100
Luvale	10.2	50.0	39.8	100	17.2	63.3	19.5	100	14.0	57.2	28.8	100
Other native	6.4	53.2	40.4	100	14.7	59.5	25.7	100	10.9	56.6	32.4	100
English									9.1	29.1	61.8	100
Total	6.0	50.2	43.9	100	12.4	57.7	29.9	100	9.4	54.2	36.4	100
N	384	3229	2824	6437	932	4336	2248	7516	1316	7565	5072	13953

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

		Primary		S	econdary			7-11			12-16	
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Bemba	18.8	37.5	27.9	34.9	41.9	38.3	21.7	42.9	32.1	19.3	27.1	23.1
Tonga	21.8	30.5	28.6	33.3	40.1	38.7	23.5	34.4	32.0	20.6	25.6	24.5
Nyanja	18.5	46.2	40.9	37.1	48.9	47.0	22.1	50.1	44.9	20.8	37.4	34.2
Lozi	12.4	34.2	25.9	40.8	55.7	50.7	13.5	36.9	28.1	21.5	37.5	32.2
Lunda	8.7	32.3	23.8		33.3	32.7	10.4	37.1	27.5	16.0	23.2	19.8
Kaonde	35.7	19.8	23.8		33.8	30.0		24.0	25.0		16.0	18.8
Luvale		34.0	31.0		30.4	34.5		37.8	33.7		23.1	24.2
Other native	21.5	42.7	33.8	39.6	51.5	46.4	23.5	47.2	37.1	22.4	36.1	30.5
Total	19.8	38.3	31.3	37.2	45.9	42.6	22.0	42.8	34.8	21.2	31.5	27.6
N	2630	4319	6948	1398	2318	3717	1958	3192	5146	1520	2586	4102

Table 4. Not attending school by home language (unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios)

Adjusted Odds Ratio Unadjusted Odds Ratio 12-16 Language Primary Secondary 7-11 Primary Secondary 7-11 12-16 Bemba 0.86* 0.67* 0.87* 0.72* 0.79* 1.23* 1.18* 0.91 Tonga 0.85* 0.80* 0.89 0.78* 0.75* 0.80* 0.77* 0.72* Nyanja 1.63* 1.18 1.65* 1.30* 1.40* 1.20 1.45* 1.20 Lozi 0.81 1.49* 0.77* 1.30 0.72* 1.23 0.66* 1.13 Other native 1.04 1.05 1.03 1.06 1.11 1.07 1.11 1.12

1.2

19.1

1.1

1.6

Pseudo R²

1.1

21.4

15.9

16.5

¹ Adjusted for sex, household wealth, parental education, absence of parents, and living in a rural area

^{*} P < 0.05

Country profile Zimbabwe^{1,3,4,6}

Official languages: English, Shona, Ndebele and some other native languages

Leading languages in daily life: Shona, Ndebele, English.

Languages of instruction in primary: Ndebele, Shona and English.

Language of instruction in secondary: English

Data source: Demographic and Health Survey 1999, household survey.

Language variable: language of the interview.

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Shona	81.0	82.1	79.0	80.8	9306
Ndebele	16.2	14.3	17.5	16.0	1843
Other native	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.3	37
English	2.4	3.3	3.1	2.8	326
Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	11512

Table 2. Educational attainment of men and women aged 16-49 by home language

		Men				Women				Total			
Language	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	None	Primary	> primary	Total	
Shona	3.1	32.0	64.9	100	8.1	41.6	50.3	100	5.7	36.9	57.5	100	
Ndebele	3.0	35.3	61.7	100	5.0	40.5	54.5	100	4.0	38.1	57.9	100	
English	1.2	11.6	87.2	100	1.9	9.3	88.8	100	1.5	10.5	88.0	100	
Total	3.1	32.0	65.0	100	7.5	40.6	51.9	100	5.3	36.3	58.3	100	
N	173	1801	3662	5636	437	2368	3029	5834	610	4169	6691	11470	

Table 3. Percentage not attending of primary and secondary school aged children and age groups according to home language

	Primary			Secondary			7-11			12-16		
Language	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total	Urban	Rural	Total
Shona	9.1	15.6	14.3	29.1	28.9	28.9	3.2	10.6	9.1	13.6	17.1	16.4
Ndebele	4.9	12.2	9.8	29.1	39.8	35.7	2.8	5.4	4.6	10.3	22.3	18.1
English	2.0		3.2	22.2		25.0			0.0	2.3		5.4
Total	7.8	15.1	13.4	28.6	30.6	30.1	3.0	9.9	8.3	12.3	17.9	16.6
N	1234	4122	5357	1125	3165	4291	878	2978	3857	906	2984	3890

No analysis of language effects on educational attendance possible because too few children are out of school.

C2. Sources of information in country profiles

- 1. Gordon, Raymond G., Jr. (ed.), 2005. Ethnologue: Languages of the World, Fifteenth edition. Dallas, Tex.: SIL International. Online version: http://www.ethnologue.com/.
- 2. US Library of Congress: http://countrystudies.us/armenia/30.htm
- 3. African community languages and their use in education (UNESCO);
- 4. Bamgbose, A. Language of Instruction Policy and Practice in Africa (UNESCO).
- 5. US Library of Congress (http://memory.loc.gov/frd/cs/)
- 6. http://education.stateuniversity.com/
- First Language First: Community-based Literacy Programmes for Minority Language Contexts in Asia, UNESCO, 2005
- 8. UNESCO World Culture Report on Cultural Diversity
- 9. African Studies Center (http://www.africa.upenn.edu/NEH/keducation.htm
- http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EXTECAREGTOPEDUCATION/Resources/444607-1192636551820/Education_MDG_Case_Study_April_29.pdf
- 11. http://lcweb2.loc.gov/frd/cs/profiles/Kyrgyzstan.pdf).
- 12. EFA Year 2000 Assessment Turkey Report (http://www.unesco.org/education/wef/countryreports/turkey/rapport_1.html)

Table 1. Home language of respondents aged 16-49 by age group

	Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Armenia	Armenian	98.5	98.7	98.5	98.5	11892
Airrichia	Other native	1.0	1.0	0.6	0.8	96
	Russian	0.6	0.3	1.0	0.7	81
Benin	Fon	43.9	45.1	44.2	44.4	5218
Deriiri	Bariba	10.7	9.7	10.1	10.2	1201
	Aja	9.7	10.2	9.9	9.9	1164
	Dendi	5.1	5.9	4.7	5.3	620
	Yoruba	4.3	3.9	3.9	4.1	478
	Ditammari	3.2	3.9	3.4	3.5	410
	Other native	4.7	4.6	5.4	4.9	573
	French	18.4	16.7	18.4	17.9	2101
Bolivia	Quechua	17.5	21.5	26.0	21.3	7582
	Aymara	8.4	14.0	19.6	13.5	4817
	Guaraní	0.4	0.7	0.5	0.5	189
	Other native	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	80
	Spanish	72.6	63.0	53.0	63.7	22641
	Foreign	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.7	258
Burkina Faso	Mòoré	58.6	57.5	60.0	58.7	12350
	Jula	15.0	13.8	17.3	15.3	3222
	Fulfulde	3.6	4.8	4.1	4.1	860
	Other native	11.1	14.3	11.5	12.1	2551
	French	11.6	9.6	7.1	9.7	2049
Cameroon	Fulfulde	26.2	27.8	25.8	26.6	4679
	Pidgin	12.4	14.6	13.4	13.3	2341
	Ewondo	0.5	0.7	0.9	0.6	114
	Other	2.1	2.0	2.7	2.2	391
	French	53.1	50.7	53.0	52.4	9233
	English	5.6	4.3	4.2	4.9	861
Eritrea	Tigrigna	66.8	62.7	60.9	64.1	11282
	Tigré	19.9	22.5	23.0	21.5	3778
	Saho	2.9	3.0	3.2	3.0	530
	Bilen	2.5	2.0	2.5	2.4	417
	Afar	1.9	2.6	3.2	2.4	424
	Hedarib (Tobedawi)	1.9	2.7	2.1	2.2	386
	Nara Kunama	1.9	2.0	2.4	2.0	357
	Arabic	1.5 0.4	1.6 0.4	1.5 0.6	1.5 0.5	268 85
	Other native	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.5	81
Ethionia	Oromiana	20.0	20.5	24.4	20.0	0740
Ethiopia	Oromigna	32.6	32.5	31.1 35.6	32.2 33.9	8749
	Amharic Tigrigna	34.0 6.4	32.4 6.1	35.6 6.4	33.9 6.3	9209 1719
	Other native	27.0	29.0	26.9	6.3 27.5	7478
	Juioi nauve	21.0	23.0	20.9	21.0	1710

	Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Ghana	Akan	49.1	47.5	48.2	48.4	5050
	Éwé	12.8	12.5	12.9	12.7	1330
	Dagbani	6.1	7.9	6.7	6.9	716
	Ga	5.4	5.4	6.0	5.5	579
	Nzema	1.2	1.1	1.3	1.2	126
	Other native	25.3	25.6	24.8	25.2	2636
	English	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	4
Guatemala	K'iche'	6.7	6.1	6.0	6.3	788
	Kaqchikel	6.2	5.2	5.4	5.7	714
	Q'eqchi'	5.1	5.2	4.8	5.0	630
	Mam	3.9	2.5	3.3	3.4	422
	Kanjobal	1.6	0.9	1.5	1.4	170
	Tz'utujil	0.6	0.8	0.8	0.7	91
	Poqomchi'	0.7	0.8	0.5	0.7	86
	Other native	1.5	1.7	1.8	1.7	209
	Spanish	73.6	76.8	75.8	75.1	9395
Guinea	Pular	32.2	33.4	36.6	33.9	3879
	Maninka	29.4	28.0	27.7	28.4	3255
	Susu	22.0	22.6	20.3	21.7	2483
	Guerze	7.9	7.5	7.5	7.7	876
	Kissi	5.6	5.7	5.4	5.6	636
	Toma	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3	262
	Other native	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	3
	French	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	39
	English	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	9
India	Hindi	43.1	41.0	37.2	40.8	87091
	Bengali	8.3	9.1	8.9	8.7	18580
	Telugu	8.4	8.6	9.4	8.7	18667
	Marathi	7.1	7.8	8.0	7.6	16165
	Tamil	5.7	6.5	7.5	6.5	13786
	Gujarati	4.8	4.3	5.4	4.8	10219
	Oriya	3.5	4.0	3.6	3.7	7923
	Kannada	3.7	3.4	3.8	3.6	7719
	Malayalam	3.3	3.4	4.6	3.7	7906
	Punjabi Urdu	2.6 2.4	2.6 2.0	2.8 1.9	2.6 2.1	5644 4569
	Assamese	2. 4 1.5	1.5	1.9	1.5	3203
	Kashmiri	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.5	1148
	Konkani	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.3	700
	Nepali	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3	536
	Manipuri	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	332
	Sindhi	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	316
	Other	4.2	4.2	4.0	4.1	8832
	English	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	66
Kazakhstan	Kazakh	48.9	44.9	37.1	43.1	3928
Nazamistan	Other native	2.1	2.9	3.5	2.9	262
	Russian	49.0	52.2	59.4	54.0	4916
	. Cabolali	10.0	52.2	30.4	3 1.0	10.10

	Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Kenya	Gikuyu	20.5	22.5	23.6	21.9	2990
•	Luyia	15.6	13.7	14.7	14.8	2019
	Luo	12.7	11.5	11.2	11.9	1631
	Kamba	11.0	11.3	10.4	10.9	1493
	Kalenjin	11.1	11.9	9.9	11.0	1506
	Gusii	6.5	5.4	5.7	5.9	812
	Meru	5.0	5.3	5.6	5.3	718
	Mijikenda	4.2	4.1	4.0	4.1	562
	Somali	3.3	3.0	3.2	3.2	433
	Maasai	1.5	2.0	2.2	1.8	252
	Embu	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.2	168
	Swahili	0.8	1.1	0.9	0.9	126
	Other native	6.3	6.7	7.5	6.7	917
	English	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.2	24
Kyrgyz Republic	Kirghiz	80.3	77.6	77.1	78.4	5520
	Russian	19.7	22.4	22.9	21.6	1519
Mali	Bamanankan	86.7	86.3	85.1	86.1	18873
IVIGII	Songhay	3.5	3.7	4.2	3.8	833
	Fulfulde	2.9	3.7	3.3	3.3	720
	Dogon	2.4	2.6	4.0	2.9	645
	Soninke	1.3	1.0	1.2	1.2	255
	Bobo Madaré	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.4	87
	Tamajaq	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	34
	Minianke	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	10
	Senoufo	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2
	Other native	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	59
	French	2.4	1.7	1.4	1.9	407
Mozambique	Makhuwa	23.0	29.0	28.3	26.3	5631
	Tsonga	15.4	11.0	12.5	13.3	2839
	Sena	6.2	6.4	6.8	6.4	1374
	Lomwe	5.6	7.5	7.0	6.6	1411
	Chitswa	6.1	5.6	6.2	6.0	1284
	Chichewa	4.2	5.1	4.9	4.7	996
	Nhungue	3.8	3.8	4.1	3.9	838
	Ndau	4.1	3.9	3.2	3.8	810
	Chuwabo	3.1	4.1	3.5	3.5	752
	Chope	2.0	1.7	1.9	1.9	408
	Jaua	1.6	1.6	1.8	1.7	359
	Tonga	2.1	1.4	1.8	1.8	388
	Naconde	1.8	1.7	1.7	1.7	373
	Ronga	2.0	1.3	1.8	1.7	372
	Tewe	1.5	1.1	1.1	1.2	266
	Chibarue	1.1	0.9	0.8	1.0	204
	Shona	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.6	129
	Chigorogonza	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.6	127
	Nhanja	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.5	105
	Kimuani	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.5	110
	Chimanica	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.4	81 30
	Suaili	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	39 63
	Koti	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.3	62
	Chitewe	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	32
	Kikakwe	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	28 661
	Other native Portuguese	2.6 9.9	3.8 7.1	3.0 6.4	3.1 8.1	661 1731
	ronuguese	უ.ყ	1.1	0.4	0.1	1731

	Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Namibia	Kwanyama	51.5	46.6	39.6	47.0	5320
	Nama	14.3	15.9	17.6	15.6	1767
	Herero	8.5	10.8	11.2	9.9	1119
	Kwangali	6.4	4.5	4.8	5.4	612
	Lozi	1.8	1.9	1.6	1.8	201
	Other native	8.4	9.2	9.5	9.0	1015
	Afrikaans	8.4	10.5	14.8	10.7	1208
	English	0.6	0.6	1.0	0.7	82
Nepal	Nepali	40.1	39.6	38.4	39.4	7266
·	Maithili	11.6	13.2	13.9	12.8	2357
	Tharu	11.7	12.0	11.1	11.6	2137
	Bhojpuri	5.1	5.2	4.6	5.0	915
	Other native	31.5	30.0	32.0	31.2	5749
Nigeria	Hausa	25.0	27.1	26.6	26.0	3886
-	Yoruba	10.9	11.9	11.4	11.3	1689
	Igbo	11.1	10.5	12.6	11.3	1691
	Other native	51.9	49.1	47.9	50.1	7480
	English	1.1	1.4	1.6	1.3	195
Peru	Quechua	7.7	7.8	8.9	8.1	4314
	Aymara	0.7	0.9	1.1	0.9	473
	Other native	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.3	173
	Spanish	91.2	90.9	89.7	90.6	48364
	Foreign language	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	43
Philippines	Tagalog	42.2	42.1	41.0	41.8	12072
	Cebuano	25.7	26.3	26.8	26.2	7579
	Hiligaynon	7.2	7.3	7.1	7.2	2083
	Ilocano	7.1	7.4	7.8	7.4	2147
	Bicolano	4.6	3.7	4.5	4.3	1245
	Aklanon	2.8	3.2	3.0	3.0	860
	Waray-Waray	2.8	2.9	2.9	2.9	829
	Pampangan	2.0	1.6	2.1	1.9	559
	Tausug	1.6	1.6	1.1	1.5	421
	Maguindanao	0.9	1.0	0.7	0.9	250
	Pangasinan	1.1	0.9	0.9	1.0	284
	Maranao	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	164
	Chavacano	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5	150
	Kinaray-A	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.3	85
	Surigaonon	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	75
	Cuyonon	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	61
	Kankanaey	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	29
	English	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	7
South Africa	Zulu	24.7	23.5	23.9	24.1	4691
	Xhosa	16.2	14.5	13.6	14.9	2892
	Tswana	11.4	11.8	10.3	11.2	2172
	SePedi	10.3	8.1	7.4	8.8	1704
	SeSotho	8.3	8.8	9.1	8.7	1691
	Tsonga	3.1	2.7	1.6	2.5	487
	Swati	2.3	2.1	1.4	2.0	380
	Venda	2.1	1.7	1.4	1.7	340
	Ndebele	1.0	1.0	0.9	0.9	182
	Afrikaans	12.1	14.9	17.2	14.5	2818
	English	8.7	10.9	13.3	10.8	2097

	Language	16-25	26-35	36-49	Total	N
Togo	Éwé	50.1	49.7	50.9	50.1	7907
	Tem	7.4	6.8	8.3	7.4	1170
	Moba	6.0	7.2	7.7	6.8	1076
	Kabiyé	6.5	5.8	5.6	6.0	951
	Other native	6.0	6.4	6.8	6.3	999
	French	24.0	24.1	20.8	23.3	3667
Turkey	Turkish	75.2	82.6	84.6	80.3	12511
	Kurdish	20.4	14.2	11.7	15.9	2477
	Arabic	2.8	2.1	1.8	2.3	351
	Other	1.6	1.1	2.0	1.6	245
Zambia	Bemba	24.1	25.4	22.6	24.1	3376
	Tonga	13.8	12.9	13.8	13.5	1887
	Nyanja	10.0	10.3	9.6	10.0	1399
	Lozi	6.1	5.8	5.7	5.9	828
	Lunda	2.6	3.0	2.5	2.7	379
	Kaonde	2.4	2.4	2.6	2.5	344
	Luvale	1.5	1.8	1.9	1.7	234
	Other native	39.1	38.1	40.8	39.2	5481
	English	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	54
Zimbabwe	Shona	81.0	82.1	79.0	80.8	9306
	Ndebele	16.2	14.3	17.5	16.0	1843
	Other native	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.3	37
	English	2.4	3.3	3.1	2.8	326